
1

AGENDA
WORKING NOTES

Regular Meeting
Canton Planning and Zoning Commission
Tuesday, January 19, 2016 at 7:30 p.m.

Library Community Center, Room E
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT

CALL TO ORDER:
Call to order the Regular Meeting of the Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, January 19, 2016 at
____ PM

ROLL CALL:
Commissioners Present are: _________________.
Commissioners Absent are: _________________.

David Bondanza –Regular Member
Jonathan Thiesse – Regular Member
Phil Pane – Regular Member
David Evens – Regular Member
John Huyghebaert – Regular Member
Keith August – Regular Member
Lans Perry – Regular Member
David Freeman – Alternate Member
Bill Sarmuk – Alternate Member
Vacant – Alternate Member

*members indicated they will be absent

A quorum of the Commission is present?
(If a Regular Member is absent: “Mr. _______ is hereby seated for Mr. __________.”)

Modification of Agenda
No suggestions

READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE:

Remarks by Chair Re: Meeting Conduct

PUBLIC HEARINGS

1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special
Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater
than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square
foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette
Lowell owner



2

___ Commissioners Seated 1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________,

4.______________, 5._____________, 6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom

The Public Hearing was opened in November and continued to December. At the December
meeting the applicant granted an extension under CGS 8-7d to allow the hearing to remain open
January 19

th
, 2016.

At the time Working Notes was drafted the applicant has been indicating an additional extension
would be granted to keep the public hearing open to February. In lieu of such extension the
Commission must close the hearing. If the hearing is closed the Commission may deliberate for
65 days (March 24, 2016). However with the remaining outstanding information not being
submitted (please see the October 21, 2015 staff report) the Commission would likely be
required to deny the application.

Motions for consideration:

Motion: to Continue the public hearing for File #379; Apln. #1559 to the February 17, 2016
Regular Meeting.

Or

Motion: to Close the public hearing for File #379; Apln. #1559.

A motion is made,
is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

2. File #194; Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; Special
Permit, Section 6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and Section 6.4.E.10,
enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of up to a 75 square foot
identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire Station; Harold Freytag,
applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner

___ Commissioners Seated 1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________,

4.______________, 5._____________, 6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom

The public hearing opens this evening. Please see the staff report dated January 13, 2016.

___ Applicant Presentation
___ Questions by Commission of Applicant
___ Allow Recess for Public Review of Presented Documents/ Items (if necessary)
___ Open the Floor for Public Comment
___ Staff Input
___ Additional Questions by Commission of Staff or Applicant
___ Applicant’s Summation/ Rebuttal
___ Close Public Hearing



3

Motions for consideration:

Motion: to close the public hearing for File #194; Apln. #1567

Or

Motion to continue the public hearing for File #194; Apln. #1567

A motion is made,
is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

REGULAR MEETING

PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS:

1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special
Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater
than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square
foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette
Lowell owner

This item is to be continued to February 17
th
, 2016

Or

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion? (A draft motion is included in the December 15, 2015 staff report)

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

2. File #194; Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; Special
Permit, Section 6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and Section 6.4.E.10,
enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of up to a 75 square foot
identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire Station; Harold Freytag,
applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner

This item is to be continued to February 17
th
, 2016

Or

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion? (A draft motion is included in the January 13, 2016 staff report)

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails



4

OLD BUSINESS:

None

NEW BUSINESS:

1. File #193; Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special
Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to
establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana Mathes,
applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner

This application is being received this evening. Please see the January 13, 2016 Application
Receipt report

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion? (A draft motion is included in the January 13, 2016 staff report)

Suggested Motion: To receive File #193, Apln #1571 for 465 Albany Turnpike and schedule a
public hearing for February 17, 2016.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

OTHER BUSINESS:

1. Review minutes of the December 16, 2016
2. Freedom of Information (FOI) Class; February 3, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. - Class being held for the benefit

of town commissioners. Attendance is encouraged and appreciated.
3. CRCOG Representative Recommendation for Regional Planning Commission – The Commission

needs to nominate a potential representative and alternate to the BOS for their endorsement. The
RPC meets 5x’s per year in West Hartford at 7 PM.

4. POCD Implementation Review – Please see the Customized POCD Implementation Table, PZC as a
Lead Agency. An updated report from the PIC to the BOS is being prepared for submission in May,
2016. The Commission’s input by March would be appreciated.

5. Discussion of Super-Board Meeting on January 28, 2016
6. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations

• Asbuilts – done
• Multiple edits suggested by Mr. Brainard focusing on equipment and vehicles
• Accessory Buildings and Structures per ZBA interpretation - Amend Page A-76, Section
3.6.E.6 of MR District to refer to “Accessory Uses, Buildings and Structures”.
• Update regulations regarding size of open signs in CBD overlay, CHDC suggestion
• Address Shipping containers on Residential property – from recent ZBA court case
• Archeological regulations – suggested from Town Historian

7. Discussion of Design Regulations – Special Meeting for January 27th?
8. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite – Looking to have complete draft of Subdivision and

Public Improvement Standards by the end of the month.
9. Discussion of Citation Process within Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures – Specific questions

to the Town Attorney generated from the joint meeting between the ZBA and PZC have been
included in the meeting packets.

10. Staff Reports:
a. Town Planner’s Report

i. File # 524 - Shallot Meadow Road Acceptance Request – As reported last
month the developer has requested a recommendation from the PZC that Shallot
Meadow Road be accepted by the BOS. On December 24, 2015 staff sent the
applicant team a checklist identifying missing information necessary for the PZC



5

to issue a positive recommendation. To date no additional information has been
submitted. Additional information is also needed from the Town’s on call
consultant. However our consultant does not have all the information necessary
to complete his review. An interim report has been requested.

ii. Annual Town Meeting January 20, 2016. Topics: Marketing and Branding
Project; TIF Master Plan for Collins Company

b. ZEO Report
i. Discussion of 550 Cherry Brook Road – See separate memo from ZEO seeking

guidance.
ii. Discussion of 280 Albany Turnpike - See separate memo from ZEO seeking

guidance.

ADJOURNMENT:



Exhibit List for:

File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special
Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater than
2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot
dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner

List as of January 7, 2016

List of Drawings

1. Sheet 1; Map of Existing Conditions; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting
Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015

2. Sheet 2; Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting Engineers,
LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015

3. Sheet 3; Site Grading and Utilities Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting
Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015

4. Sheet 4; Elevations; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by D. Tarinelli Architect; Prepared for Kym Nash;
Dated August 31, 2015

5. Sheet 5; Ground Floor Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by D. Tarinelli Architect; Prepared for Kym
Nash; Dated August 31, 2015

6. Sheet 6; Map of Existing Conditions; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting
Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015

7. Sheet 7; Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting Engineers,
LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015

8. Sheet 8; Site Grading and Utilities Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting
Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015

9. Sheet 9; Alternate Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting
Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated October 7, 2015

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike;
Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service
businesses and personal services businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan
Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and associated site
improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner

2. Copy of Payment; Check #200
3. Assessor’s Card for 301 Albany Turnpike; Parcel 1010301
4. List of Abutters within 100 feet
5. Copy of the abutter notice sent to neighboring properties on September 21, 2015 notifying them of the

upcoming Public Hearing on October 21, 2015
6. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations;

dated 9/21/15
7. Proof of Certified Mailing from the Hartford Courant; dated October 1, 2015
8. Email from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding soil tests at 301 Albany Turnpike; dated October

13, 2015
9. Email from David Whitney to Renee Narducci regarding revised plans; dated October 14, 2015
10. Email from David Whitney to Renee Narducci regarding a letter with additional information for the

proposed Dance Studio; dated October 14, 2015
11. Letter from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding additional information for the proposed Dance

Studio; dated October 12, 2015
12. Application review comments from Police Chief Christopher Arciero; received October 14, 2015
13. Application review comments from Fire Marshal Tim Tharau; received October 15, 2015
14. Certified mail receipts
15. Agenda for the October 21, 2015 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission



16. Email from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding the postponement for the opening of the public
hearing; dated October 19, 2015

17. Letter from David Whitney to Neil Pade formally requesting the postponement for the opening of the
public hearing to the next regularly scheduled meeting on November 18, 2015; dated October 19,
2015

18. Notice of hearing postponement for File #379; Apln #1559; placed at entrance of Room F prior to
meeting

19. Email from George Wallace to Neil Pade regarding his preliminary review of this application; dated
October 21, 2015

20. October 21, 2015 memorandum from Neil S. Pade AICP to the Planning and Zoning Commission
21. Draft minutes from the October 21, 2015 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission
22. Email from David Markowitz to Neil Pade regarding the easement and deed for 301 Albany Turnpike;

dated October 23, 2015
23. Warranty Deed for 301 Albany Turnpike; Volume #299, Page #1002; dated October 2, 2003
24. Driveway Easement for 301 Albany Turnpike; Volume #315, Page #265; dated August 4, 2004
25. Letter from David Markowitz to Neil Pade regarding the proposed Dance Studio; received via email;

dated November 16, 2015
26. Description of the proposed dance studio, provided to the Commission by Kym Nash prior to the

Public Hearing on November 18, 2015
27. Draft minutes from the November 18, 2015 regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission
28. Consent for extension of statutory time (CGS, Chapter 8-7d) signed by Kym Nash; received by the

Land Use Office on December 1, 2015
29. Agenda for the 12/16/15 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission
30. Draft minutes from the 12/16/15 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission















































 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION  

Canton, Connecticut   Inc. 1806 
4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 
 

 

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission 

 

FROM:  Neil S. Pade, AICP, Director, Planning & Community Development 

 

CC:  Holden Nardini, Applicant 

  File #379, Apln. #1559 

 

SUBJECT: Staff Report - Request for Special Permit and Site Development Plan at 301 Albany 

Turnpike 

 

DATE:  October 21, 2015 

 

 

Proposal 

The applicant is proposing the conversion of 301 Albany Turnpike (presently a single family home 

located on a business zoned property) from a primary residential dwelling to a place of business.  This 

proposal seeks Site Development Plan approval per Section 9.1, and  a special permit use under Section 

4.1.C.1.a (retail, service businesses and personal service businesses greater than 2,500 sf). (note – 

applicant should update form to specify “4.1.C.1.a” so it is clear this is the use being applied for and 

evaluated.) 

 

The applicant proposes to construct a new 3,440 square foot (sf) building that would be attached to the 

existing single family house through an interior walkway. According to the application this space is 

intended to be used as a “Dance Hall”. 

 

The applicant intends to repurpose the existing single family house for business use. It is not clear if this 

building would be part of the “Dance” business operation or as an independent place of business. 

 

Despite the narrative the Commission must evaluate this proposal against all possible business activities 

that would be allowed under Section 4.1.C.1.a if approved. 

 

Background 

Land Use Office has no records on this property other than those customary with a single family 

residence with the exception of a home occupation sign permit issued in 2004. 

 

CGS 8-7d Timing Requirements 

This application was submitted to the land use office on September 11, 2015.  It was formally received 

by the Commission on September 19, 2015 (per Section 9.9.B) however was not listed on the agenda for 

consideration in accordance with Section 9.9.A.6. 

 

A public hearing is required and was scheduled by the Land Use Office for October 21
st
, 2015.  It has 

been requested by the applicant that the opening of the hearing be postponed to the November 18, 2015 

meeting.  The hearing must open within 65 days of receipt (November 23
rd

, 2015).  Once opened the 



 2 

hearing must be closed within 35 days (December 28, 2015).  The Commission will have 65 days from 

the close of the hearing to deliberate.  The applicant may grant an additional 65 days of “extension time” 

for any portion of time required under this section. 

 

Notices 

The following notices have been provided: 

 

1. Legal Notices (2) of the Public Hearing were published on October 6
th
 and 13th, 2015. 

2. Per Section 9.9.F a Public Hearing Sign was posted on the property by the applicant on 

September 21, 2015 for 15 continuous and an affidavit has been filed to that affect. 

3. Per Section 9.9.G, and CGS 8-7d(a) the applicant has notified owners of lots indicated within 

one hundred (100) feet of the subject lot. Copies of certified mailings were submitted on 

October 20, 2015. 

 

Analysis 

 

Staff visited the site and performed a review of the site plans in the file (A list of the plans on file is 

included in Appendix A).  The improvements shown on the plan include: 

 

The addition of: 

 Site grading 

 Areas of existing pavement to be removed 

 Entrance and circulation drives, inclusive of drop off area 

 Proposed bituminous parking area inclusive of 17 spaces 

 A 5’ concrete sidewalk from the rear parking lot to the east side of the building 

(question on point of handicap access?) 

 Signage; 

 Lighting; 

 Stormwater management controls; 

 Proposed building addition (2,700 sf plus the “connector”); 

 Changes in site landscaping 

 

Applicable Regulations and Completeness 

 

The following regulations are applicable to the review of this application: 

 

Section 4 – Business District – Service businesses are presently allowed in the business districts 

as a Special Permit under Section 4.1.C.1.a  when such business exceeds the 2,500 sf  limitation 

of Section 4.1.B.1.b.  (The Commission should specify, if approving the application, whether 

they are approving both retail and service businesses over this threshold or just service 

businesses.) 

Section 7 - Basic Standards 

 Section 8.2 - Performance Standards 

 Section 8.6 - Design Review 

Section 9.1 – Site Plan (the Applicant may request certain submission requirements to be waived 

under Section 9.1.A.12). 

Section 9.2 – Special Permit 

Section 9.9 – Procedural Requirements 

 



 3 

The required application review checklist has not been submitted, however was reviewed has 

indicated in the October 12, 2015 letter from Mr. Whitney.  A review of the application checklist 

provides questions regarding the following for the Commission’s and Applicant’s consideration: 

 Landscaping 7.1 

 Parking 7.2 

 Signage 7.3 

 Outdoor Lighting, 7.4 

 Fences and walls, 7.7 

 Traffic and Visibility 7.8 

 Bicycle and Pedestrian Accommodations 7.9 

 Copies of Deeds and Easements 

 Water, Sewer, Utility Information 

 Storm water 7.13 

 NDDB Reporting 

 Refuse removal/ disposal 

 Soils and depth to bedrock for site development activities 

 Building construction details, HVAC, Interior renovations/ code compliance. 

 Construction Details. 

 

Site Plan 

 

There is no record of Site Development Plan approval for this site.  The Commission must 

evaluate the provisions of: Section 9.1 Site Development Plan Requirements; Section 4.1.D Area 

and Dimensional Requirements for Business Districts, and standards of Section 7.  Staff has 

provided a review the Site Plan regulations attached as Appendix B 

 

Special Permit 

 

This application seeks approval of Special Permit Section 4.1.C.1.a., which requires an 

evaluation of the Special Permit Criteria of Section 9.2.E. 

 

Special Permit Considerations: 

In considering any application for a Special Permit, the Commission shall, in addition to other 

standards in the Regulations, evaluate the merits of the application with respect to the following 

factors: 

 

1. Plan of Conservation and Development – Whether the proposed use or activity is in 

accordance with or facilitates achievement of one or more of the goals, objectives, policies, 

and recommendations of the Plan of Conservation and Development, as amended; 

 

2. Purposes of Regulations – The proposed use or activity is consistent with the purposes of the 

Regulations; 

 

3. Environmental Protection and Conservation – Appropriate consideration shall be given to 

the protection, preservation, and/or enrichment of natural, scenic, historic, and unique and 

environmental resources and features which enhance the character of the community; 

 

4. Suitable Location for Use – with respect to: 

a. The size of the lot; 



 4 

b. The nature and intensity of the activities involved in or conducted in connection with the use; 

c. The streets giving access to it are such that the use shall be in harmony with the appropriate 

and orderly development in the neighborhood in which it is located; and, 

d. The impact on neighboring properties and residences or the development of the district. 

 

5. Appropriate Improvements 

a. The design elements shall be attractive and suitable in relation to the site characteristics, the 

style of other buildings in the immediate area, and the existing and probable future 

character of the neighborhood; 

b. The location, nature and height of buildings, walls, and fences, planned uses and the nature 

and extent of landscaping on the lot shall not hinder or discourage the appropriate 

development and use of land and buildings in the neighborhood or impair the value 

thereof; 

c. The proposed use shall have no material adverse impact upon the neighborhood; 

 

6. Suitable Transportation Conditions 

a. The design, location, and specific details of the proposed use or activity shall not: 

i. adversely affect safety in the streets; 

ii. unreasonably increase traffic congestion in the area; 

iii. interfere with the pattern of vehicular circulation in such a manner as to create or increase 

unsafe traffic conditions. 

b. Parking area or areas shall: 

i. be of adequate size for the particular use; 

ii. be suitably screened from adjoining residential uses; and 

iii. have entrance and exit drives laid out so as to prevent traffic hazards and 

nuisances. 

c. Streets and other rights-of-way shall be of such size, condition capacity, width, grade, 

alignment and visibility to adequately accommodate the additional traffic to be generated 

by the particular proposed use. 

 

7. Adequate Public Utilities and Services 

a. The provisions for water supply, sewage disposal, and storm water drainage shall: 

i. conform to accepted engineering practices; 

ii. comply with all standards of the appropriate regulatory authority; and 

iii. not unduly burden the capacity of such facilities. 

b. The proposed use or activity shall: 

i. provide ready accessibility for fire apparatus and police protection, and 

ii. be laid out and equipped to further the provision of emergency services. 

 

8. Nuisance Avoidance 

a. The use shall be appropriate for the area shall not create a nuisance, and shall not hinder the 

public health, safety, convenience, and property values. 

 

9. Long Term Viability - Adequate provision shall be made for the sustained maintenance of 

the proposed development including structures, streets, and other improvements. 

 

Staff has provided observations below that the Commission may wish to consider in their review 

of the proposal against this criteria. 

 



 5 

Compatibility with Uses External to the Site 

The following uses were identified as neighboring or in close proximity to this site: 

 

To the north – a single family house located in the R1 district (299 Albany Turnpike), 

which however separates this lot from another business zoned lot farther to the north, 

295 Albany Turnpike, which contains a substantial greenhouse complex and is presently 

used for wood processing activities (see Figure 3 below). 

 

To the west – a single family home on a business zoned lot (305 Albany Turnpike) which 

also separates this property from additional retail service businesses on additional 

properties to the west (309 and 315 Albany Turnpike). 

 

To the east – a shared access way for 301, 299 and 295 Albany Turnpike.  Developed 

commercial properties including retail, service and office uses at 291 and 285 Albany 

Turnpike. 

 

To the south – Opposite the state highway, a mix of uses on business zoned lots 

including a gas station, recreational facility, high density residential, automobile repair, 

office, service businesses, and single family homes. 

 

Parking and Traffic Access/Circulations: 

See Section 23 and 26 of Appendix B. 

 

Landscaping and Buffering 

There appears to be substantial existing vegetation, existing separation, and proposed 

landscaping that would adequately buffer activities from this property to surrounding areas and 

uses. 

 

Use and Location Considerations 

The proposed special permit use specific to the service business floor area represents a relatively 

small business operation.  The total development potential of the lot is rather limited due to its 

size, orientation, and access. Its ability to provide adequate parking for larger uses is somewhat 

limited with the exception of future possible expansions to the north.  To date the Land Use 

Office has not received any complaints or negative inquiries from adjacent property owners or 

other interested citizens.  The size and scale of this business as presented in the application is 

appropriate for the lot and anticipated development of this area. 

 

Additional Staff Comments 

 

Comments from additional town staff including the Traffic Authority & Fire Marshal are included in the 

file.  The Traffic Authority may have additional review comments on subsequent revisions. The applicant 

is encouraged to consult with the Building Official and Fire Marshal sooner than later to discuss change 

of use requirements that would need to be met under the Building and Fire Code should a building permit 

be sought in the future. 

 

Comments from the Project Administrator are provided in a October 21, 2015 e-mail communication. 



 6 

Recommendations 

 

It is staff’s opinion that the proposed business uses are not likely to result in conditions that are 

hazardous, inconvenient, or detrimental to the character of the neighborhood, and generally comply with 

the Special Permit and Site Plan criteria of the regulations except where specifically noted in this report. 

 

The Commission should make its own determination based on a review the compatibility of the proposed 

uses with the uses surrounding this property, and should also determine that parking, access management 

and future internal traffic circulation is adequate. 

 

The Commission should clearly state any conditions necessary to protect the public health, safety, 

convenience and property values. 

 

The Commission should consider imposing a condition requiring a modified site plan that reflects 

conditions of any approval to be submitted to staff for review prior to recording on the land records. 

 

 



 7 

Appendix A – Submitted Maps/ Plans/ Exhibits 

 

Exhibit List for: 

 

File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special 

Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater than 

2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot 

dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell 

owner 

 

List as of October 15, 2015 

List of Drawings 

 

1. Sheet 1; Map of Existing Conditions; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015 

2. Sheet 2; Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting 

Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015 

3. Sheet 3; Site Grading and Utilities Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015 

4. Sheet 4; Elevations; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by D. Tarinelli Architect; Prepared for Kym 

Nash; Dated August 31, 2015 

5. Sheet 5; Ground Floor Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by D. Tarinelli Architect; Prepared 

for Kym Nash; Dated August 31, 2015 

6. Sheet 6; Map of Existing Conditions; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015 

7. Sheet 7; Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting 

Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015 

8. Sheet 8; Site Grading and Utilities Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015 

9. Sheet 9; Alternate Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated October 7, 2015 

 

Correspondence: 

 

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany 

Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., 

Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and 

Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and 

associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner 

2. Copy of Payment; Check #200 

3. Assessor’s Card for 301 Albany Turnpike; Parcel 1010301 

4. List of Abutters within 100 feet 

5. Copy of the abutter notice sent to neighboring properties on September 21, 2015 notifying them 

of the upcoming Public Hearing on October 21, 2015 

6. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning 

Regulations; dated 9/21/15 

7. Proof of Certified Mailing from the Hartford Courant; dated October 1, 2015 

8. Email from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding soil tests at 301 Albany Turnpike; dated 

October 13, 2015 



 8 

9. Email from David Whitney to Renee Narducci regarding revised plans; dated October 14, 2015 

10. Email from David Whitney to Renee Narducci regarding a letter with additional information for 

the proposed Dance Studio; dated October 14, 2015 

11. Letter from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding additional information for the proposed Dance 

Studio; dated October 12, 2015 

12. Application review comments from Police Chief Christopher Arciero; received October 14, 2015 

13. Application review comments from Fire Marshal Tim Tharau; received October 15, 2015 

 



 9 

Appendix B Site Plan 

 

Application Checklist Review: 

1.3 Site Plan Application: 

1. Copies – Ok 

2. Application Form – Ok 

3. Application Fee – Ok 

4. Narrative – 

a. Although provided, additional narrative information is anticipated by the applicant. 

b. Additional information is necessary to determine proper provisions for water supply, 

sewage disposal and drainage. 

c. An estimate of occupancy and traffic is provided in the October 12, 2015 letter from Mr. 

Whitney however it is anticipated the applicant will provide additional information 

relating to the operation of the business and associated traffic and parking.  Onsite traffic 

circulation is anticipated to change and proposed parking possibly expanded as the result 

of revisions presently in progress. 

5. Copies of Deeds and Easements (both for 301 Albany Turnpike, and the right of way for 295 

Albany Turnpike) have not been provided. 

6. Notice (Sign and Abutters) – Addressed in staff report. 

7. Notice (Parties holding restrictions) – N/A? 

8. Notice (Adjoining municipalities) – N/A 

9. Notice (Water Co.) – N/A 

10. Wetlands – N/A 

11. Wetlands – N/A 

12. Wetlands – N/A 

13. Aquifer – N/A 

14. Flood – N/A 

15. Well/ Septic – Information not yet submitted to demonstrate provision of water. 

16. Public Water – N/A 

17. Sewer – Information not yet submitted to demonstrate connection to public sewer. 

18. State Traffic Administration/ LTA – Comments from LTA submitted on October 14, 2015.  

STA = N/A. 

19. Other Conditions – Presently N/A 

20. Bonds - N/A unless required by Commission 

21. Historic District – N/A 

22. Stormwater – Additional information necessary to demonstrate compliance with Section 7.13 

of the regulations (See Storm water Management Study for disturbances over 10,000 sf, 7.13.B.) 

23. Traffic – 

a. The proposal appears to be under the threshold that would require a traffic impact 

analysis unless a finding is made by the Commission under 7.8.B.1.b. 

b. Visibility and driveway obstruction requirements of 7.8.C.2 should be reviewed. 

c. Possible turning movements into both the driveways of 299 and 301 Albany Turnpike 

should be reviewed and coordinated to the extent practical (of specific concern are 

periods of class turn over).  It is preferable for such access points to be consolidated and 

shared to reduce conflicts. 

24. Erosion Control – Erosion control plan and notes submitted per Section 7.6.8.1.  Additional 

silt fence may be needed along the west side of the site during certain portions of site 

construction. 

25. Design Review – to be conducted by the PZC. 

26. Site Plan 



 10 

a. Preparation – prepared, signed and sealed by a Professional Engineer. Survey 

information references professional survey however survey not provided. 

b. Size/ Scale/ Copies – Ok. 

c. Plan Information – 

d. Key Map – Ok 

e. Title Block – Ok 

f. Arrow, Scale – Ok 

g. Zoning Schedule – Total Distributed Area and Cut’s and Fill’s not provided. 

h. Boundaries – reference A-2 survey, survey not provided/ available. 

i. Abutters – Ok 

j. Limits – Ok 

k. Easements – Easements or rights of access to 295 Albany Turnpike to be provided. 

l. Grading – Ok 

m. Soils – Not provided 

n. Water Supply Areas – N/A 

o. Refuse Disposal – Dumpsters not provided. The Commission should review potential 

waste disposal options with the applicant (and consider future occupancies that may be 

covered under the proposed use) and determine adequacy of refuse disposal proposed, or 

the need for additional inclusions on the site development plan. 

p. Roads/ Driveway/ Obstructions – When final ingress and egress is designed, sight lines 

and obstructions should be closely review to ensure there are not conflicts/ hazards. 

Special consideration should be given to existing street trees and vegetation along the 

state right of way. 

q. Setbacks – provided 

r. Utilities – 

i. Electric, telephone, cable – Incomplete 

ii. Gas/ Propane – Not shown (Oil fill shown) 

iii. Water – Incomplete 

iv. Sewer – Incomplete 

v. Well – shown 

vi. Septic/ Leaching – N/A 

vii. Other 

s. Environment – 

i. Wetlands and Watercourses – N/A 

ii. NDDB areas – NDDB areas cover the property and surrounding area. A NDDB 

reporting form should be submitted and recommendations incorporated into 

construction practices if applicable. 

iii. Rock Outcrops - Shown 

iv. Tree Canopy – Shown 

v. PWS/ Aquifer – N/A 

vi. Stormwater – Shown 

vii. Soils Test Pits – Conducted on 10/14/15, information/ results to be submitted. 

viii. Groundwater – 

ix. Other – 

t. Buildings – HVAC – Not shown 

u. Details – Provided – Additional detail information on construction of retaining wall, 

stormwater infiltration, manholes, sidewalk (must be Portland cement concrete), site 

lighting and landscaping.  Pavement detail differs from approved standard (Diagram 

7.2.D.2) but is technically superior (the Commission should consider upgrading their 



 11 

detail).  It is questionable if full depth of construction can be achieved in this area.  

Proposed curbing shown in the detail is not consistent with Section 7.1.E.6 and 7.2.D.13. 

v. Cost Estimates – not provided 

w. Section 6.1 – 6.4 - N/A 

x. Section 7.1 Landscaping  - 

i. Not submitted by a professional LA. 

ii. Additional information should be provided on the species and size of proposed 

plantings demonstrating compliance with Section 7.1.F. 

iii. The site design appears to rely on the use of existing vegetation to meet many of 

the requirements of Section 7.1.  The Commission should consider this under 

Sections 7.1.D.1.a, 7.1.D.2.b,  7.1.H. 

iv. 7.1.E.8 – landscaping buffer (15’ inclusive of sidewalk) is not met. Additional 

plantings within this area are required. 

v. 7.1.E – parking lot landscaping is provided at greater than the requires 10%. The 

Commission may determine an existing shade tree is necessary, however the 

additional residential buffer and exiting trees to remain (if protected) should 

suffice. 

vi. Proposed curbing shown in the detail is not consistent with Section 7.1.E.6 

vii. Existing trees to remain are to be protected in accordance with 7.1.G.7. 

viii. A note should be added to the plans indicating site landscaping may be modified 

by the ZEO in consultation with the LA who prepared the design. 

y. Section 7.2 - Parking and Loading 

i. The Commission could review this as a Service Use or Other, or Place of 

Assembly – the applicant is presently providing 18 parking spaces which is not 

inconsistent with the standard of 6 per 1000 sf of gfa. With the anticipation of 12 

students per class and separation between classes, the parking provided should 

be adequate.  However the Commission should discuss with the applicant the 

anticipation of this business being very successful and possibly increasing class 

sizes. In addition the management of parking for recitals or other events should 

be discussed.  As noted above, it is believed that the parking and circulation plan 

is being modified. 

ii. The current proposal intends to reuse existing driveways.  Section 7.2.D.4 

requires driveways for Business District properties to be a minimum of 24’ wide.  

Although the existing driveway widths are existing non-conforming there is a 

special permit use being added to the property. The Commission may also refer 

to Section 7.2.D.5 regarding Access Management. If additional changes occur, 

CTDOT District 4 should be consulted. 

iii. Snow storage areas should be included on the plan in accordance with 7.2.D.8. 

iv. Curbing as shown is not consistent with Section 7.2.D.13. 

z. Section 7.3 - Signage - Signage location provided for a ground sign but no other 

information provided. 

aa. Section 7.4 – Outdoor Lighting – The location of 3 potential light poles (limited to the 

rear of the building) was identified on the plans. Remaining lighting information required 

by this section not provided. Detailed information on light fixtures, height of poles, 

construction and orientation, photometric for business hour and non-business hour 

operation of the site is required.  With classes anticipated to go as late as 9 PM this will 

need to be addressed. 

bb. Section 7.5 – Earthwork and Grading – Up to 1,999 cy is allowed via Zoning Permit 

cc. Section 7.6 – Erosion and Sediment Control – Discussed above (24) 



 12 

dd. Section 7.7- Fences and walls – Additional information on the construction of the 

proposed retaining wall requested above. 

ee. Section 7.8 – Traffic and Visibility – Addressed above in 23, 26.p., and 26.y. 

ff. Section 7.9 – Bicycle, Pedestrian and Emergency Accommodations – 

i. Pedestrian access to the building from the street and along frontage not provided. 

ii. Sidewalk along perpendicular parking needs to be 6’ in width, or a minimum of 

4’ if concrete wheel stops are used. 

iii. The Commission may consider possible findings under Section 7.9.C.6.c 

iv. Bicycle parking is required under Section 7.9.D.1.b but identified on the plans. 

gg. Section 7.10 – Outdoor Display – N/A 

hh. Section 7.11 – Mobile Vendors – N/A 

ii. Section 7.12 – Hours of Operation – Ok on hours of operation. Per 7.12.C and Section 

7.4 a lighting plan should be submitted that correlates to hours of operation. 

jj. Section 7.13 – Additional Stormwater Management information per Section 7.13.B is 

requested (22). 

kk. Section 8.2 – Performance Standards – Noise and Glare to be evaluated.  It is not clear 

where HVAC mechanicals will be stored/ mounted. 

ll. Section 8.6 – Design Review – To be conducted by the PZC. 

27. Architectural plans – 

a. The north elevation is scaled, it is believed all other elevations presented are of the same 

scale. 

b. Engineered steel building, metal roof and siding.  Additional information on the 

construction would be helpful, material samples, details, insulation? (Concerns have 

been raised about noise on prior applications using engineered steel buildings with no 

insulation) 

c. Aesthetics – proposed building addition will not be very visible from the exterior of the 

site. 

d. Floor plan – proposed remodel of existing house to commercial space should be 

reviewed by building official and fire marshal to ensure no issues with new codes when 

building permit is sought. 

 



 13 

Appendix C – Figures 

 

 

 

 
Figure 1 - 301 Albany Turnpike 

 



 14 

 
Figure 2 - 301 Albany Turnpike, Surrounding Area 

 
Figure 3 - 301 Albany Turnpike, Street View 



 15 

 
Figure 4 - Zoning Map, Properties Near and Around 301 Albany Turnpike 

 



 16 

 
Figure 5 - Existing Pedestrian Network Limits 



















































DAVID F. WHITNEY,
CONSULTING ENGINEERS, LLC

NOTES

1. Property lines, dimensions, existing building, existing driveways, topography,
existing trees, existing utilities and miscellaneous information taken from field
survey in August, 2015 and Class A-2 survey map prepared by Neriani
Surveying, Avon, CT.

2. Site is located in "B" Business Zone.

3. Total area of site = 36,786 square feet/0.844 acres.

4. No inland wetlands soils located on site.

5. Water supply by individual on-site well.

6. Sanitary sewage disposal by public sanitary sewer.

7. All construction methods and materials shall conform to the regulations and
requirements of the Town of Canton.





    

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSPLANNING & ZONING COMMISSPLANNING & ZONING COMMISSPLANNING & ZONING COMMISSIONIONIONION     

Canton, Connecticut   Inc. 1806Canton, Connecticut   Inc. 1806Canton, Connecticut   Inc. 1806Canton, Connecticut   Inc. 1806 
4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 
 

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
FROM:  Neil S. Pade, AICP 
  Director, Planning & Community Development 
 
CC:  North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, Owner 
  Harold Freytag, Applicant  
  File #194, Apln #1567 
 

SUBJECT: Staff Report – Request for Special Permit Use, Sign in the MCPF District 

 
DATE:  January 13, 2016 
 

 

Proposal 

 

The applicant requests the following relative to the North Canton Volunteer Fire Station at 540 Cherry 
Brook Road: 
 
1. The approval of a Special Permit use allowed under Section 6.4.D.5.a, Signs in accordance with 

Section 7.3; Section 6.4.E.10 Enlargement of a Special Permit use. 
 
2. Waiver of the required fee as a non-profit in accordance with Chapter 248-6 of the Canton Town Code. 
 
The site is located in the Municipal Community Public Facilities (MCPF) District.  
 

Background and Regulatory Criteria 

 

The property consists of a long standing fire station that pre-dates the adoption of the MCPF District. 
Previously, this property was located in the AR-3 (Residential 3) District. The original application to 
construct the fire station did not include signage. 
 
This application requests approval of a wall sign that would read “North Canton Station”. The proposed 
sign is approximately 300 inches x 36 inches (75 square feet) in area. Each letter would be 14½ inches in 
height.  
 
Per Section 7.3.C.1.j, signs for fire stations are regulated as “Governmental Signs” and are to “be 
regulated in the same manner as Business Identification Signs”. The maximum sign area allowed by 
regulation for a Government Sign is 24 square feet (sf).  
 
However, the Canton Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA), as part of a November 9, 2015 decision, varied 
Section 7.3.C.1.j, increasing the 24 square foot maximum “up to 75 square feet”.  Copies of the ZBA’s 
November 9, 2015 meeting minutes, record exhibits, and November 20, 2015 approval letter, are 
included in this file.  



 2

The ZBA’s role is separate from that of the Planning and Zoning Commission (Commission). The ZBA 
may vary regulatory standards by finding the presence of a “hardship” using the Variance Criteria of 
Section 9.6.E.  The Commission reviews whether the proposed use is allowed on the lot, and 
contemplates the requested maximum allowable area, by determining if the Special Permit Criteria of 
Section 9.2.E and 9.2.D.3 has been satisfied. 
 
The finding of the ZBA that hardship would occur (if the maximum allowable sign area was not varied) 
does not constrain or compel the Commission’s review.  Essentially, the Commission reviews the 
application in the same way as any other except with the varied standard. 
 
The Commission may condition special permits in accordance with Sections 9.2.D.4 and 9.2.D.5. 
 

Timing Requirements of the Connecticut General Statutes (CGS) and Notice Requirements 

 
The application was submitted on December 3, 2015. The application under CGS 8-7d(c) was received 

by the Commission on December 15, 2015. 
 
A public hearing is required for Special Permit applications within 65 days of receipt (February 18, 
2016). The Commission scheduled the public hearing for January 19, 2016. 
 
Legal Notice 
In accordance with CGS 8-7d(a) public hearings require two legal notices to be published: (1) 10-15 days 
before the hearing date; and (2) no less than 2 days after the first notice and not less than 2 days before 
the hearing (terminal days not included).  
 
Public Hearing Sign 
Per Section 9.9.F a Public Hearing Sign is to be posted on the property by the applicant at least 15 full 
days before the public hearing, and the applicant shall file an affidavit with the Commission confirming 
such posting at the conclusion of the notification period. An affidavit confirming posting has not yet been 
received. 
 
Abutter Notices 
Per Section 9.9.G, and CGS 8-7d(a) the applicant is to notify owners of lots indicated on the property tax 
map (or on the last-completed grand list) within one hundred (100) feet of the subject lot(s), by a 
certificate of mailing at least 15 days prior to the hearing. Evidence of certified mailings has been 
received. 
 

The Commission has 35 days to close the hearing (February 23, 2016), unless an extension is granted by 
the applicant. 

 

Fees 

 
The application was submitted without the required fee of $260.00. The applicant has requested a waiver 
of the fee as a non-profit in accordance with Chapter 248-6 of the Canton Town Code. 
 

List of Exhibits 

 
Information included in the application file (to date) has been documented in Appendix A. 

 



 3

Checklist Review and Completeness 

 
The applicant met with staff and reviewed the information required by Items 1-22 the Special Permit 
Application Checklist. 
 

Applicable Regulations 

 
The following regulations are applicable to the review of this application: 
 

Section 9.2.E – Special Permit Criteria 
Section 9.2.D.4 and 5 – Special Permit Conditions 
Section 6.4.A – MCPF Purpose 
Section 6.4.D.1.c – MCPF Special Permit Uses, Fire Stations 
Section 6.4.D.5.a – Signs in accordance with Section 7.3 
Section 6.4.E.10 – Enlargement of a Special Permit Use 
Section 7.3.C – Standards – Signs in Residence Districts 

 

Analysis 

 

Special Permit Considerations: 

In considering any application for a Special Permit, the Commission shall, in addition to other standards 
in these Regulations, evaluate the merits of the application with respect to the following factors: 

 

1. Plan of Conservation and Development – Whether the proposed use or activity is in 
accordance with or facilitates achievement of one or more of the goals, objectives, policies, and 
recommendations of the Plan of Conservation and Development, as amended; 
 

2. Purposes of Regulations – The proposed use or activity is consistent with the purposes of the 
Regulations; 

 

3. Environmental Protection and Conservation – Appropriate consideration shall be given to the 
protection, preservation, and/or enrichment of natural, scenic, historic, and unique and 
environmental resources and features which enhance the character of the community; 

 

4. Suitable Location for Use – with respect to: 
a. The size of the lot; 
b. The nature and intensity of the activities involved in or conducted in connection with the use; 
c. The streets giving access to it are such that the use shall be in harmony with the appropriate 

and orderly development in the neighborhood in which it is located; and, 
d. The impact on neighboring properties and residences or the development of the district. 

 

5. Appropriate Improvements 

a. The design elements shall be attractive and suitable in relation to the site characteristics, the 
style of other buildings in the immediate area, and the existing and probable future character 
of the neighborhood; 

b. The location, nature and height of buildings, walls, and fences, planned uses and the nature 
and extent of landscaping on the lot shall not hinder or discourage the appropriate 
development and use of land and buildings in the neighborhood or impair the value thereof; 

c. The proposed use shall have no material adverse impact upon the neighborhood; 



 4

6. Suitable Transportation Conditions 

a. The design, location, and specific details of the proposed use or activity shall not: 
i. Adversely affect safety in the streets; 
ii. Unreasonably increase traffic congestion in the area; 
iii. Interfere with the pattern of vehicular circulation in such a manner as to create or 

increase unsafe traffic conditions. 
b. Parking area or areas shall: 

i. Be of adequate size for the particular use; 
ii. Be suitably screened from adjoining residential uses; and 
iii. Have entrance and exit drives laid out so as to prevent traffic hazards and nuisances. 

c. Streets and other rights-of-way shall be of such size, condition capacity, width, grade, 
alignment and visibility to adequately accommodate the additional traffic to be generated by 
the particular proposed use. 

 

7. Adequate Public Utilities and Services 

a. The provisions for water supply, sewage disposal, and storm water drainage shall: 
i. conform to accepted engineering practices;  
ii. comply with all standards of the appropriate regulatory authority; and 
iii. not unduly burden the capacity of such facilities. 

b. The proposed use or activity shall: 
i. provide ready accessibility for fire apparatus and police protection, and 
ii. be laid out and equipped to further the provision of emergency services. 

 

8. Nuisance Avoidance 

a. The use shall be appropriate for the area shall not create a nuisance, and shall not hinder the 
public health, safety, convenience, and property values.  

 

9. Long Term Viability – Adequate provision shall be made for the sustained maintenance of the 
proposed development including structures, streets, and other improvements. 
 

Staff has provided observations below that the Commission may wish to consider in their review of the 
proposal against this criteria. 

 
Use and Location Considerations 
This site is a pre-existing fire station located in a well-established residential area. The station, and 
all future changes, is regulated by the MCPF District. 
 
Municipal community and public facilities (facilities) are necessary to support a residential 
community.  It is not untypical for these facilities to be located within residential areas. Yet facilities 
have characteristics that are much different, and in some instances more intensive, than residential 
uses.  The MCPF District was created with the intent to maintain substantial control over where and 
how facilities will be located and enlarged over time. As such, the MCPF District developed 
standards under which residential areas are to be protected. 
 
As shown in Appendix B, Aerial Photos, the existing fire station is located approximately 50 feet 
from the front lot line, and approximately 65 feet from the edge of Cherry Brook Road (SR 179). 
Photographs demonstrating the perspective of passerby’s are provided in Appendix C, Street View 
Photos.  An existing message board sign is located on the property approximately 15 feet from the 
edge of SR 179. 



 5

The applicant is seeking the maximum sign area allowed of 75 sf, 3.125 times larger than the 24 sf 
typically found to be acceptable for facilities in a residential area.  Section 7.3.C.1.j states 
Government Signs “that identify government buildings such as schools, fire and police stations shall 
be regulated in the same manner as Business Identification Signs”. The Zoning Enforcement Officer 
(ZEO)’s November 5, 2015 report, (Exhibit # 7)  indicates the proposed sign area will be 2.1 x’s 
larger than the maximum sign allowed for business identification within Business and Industrial 
Districts (50 sf). The maximum size of 50 sf, through its application, appears adequate to meet the 
identification needs of businesses up to 150 feet from the street (found within demanding and 
distracting Business District environments). These standards were developed with the cooperation of 
local business advocates. The significance of visibility of a business’s sign to its operation should not 
be discounted. 

 
While the acceptable sign area for Business Identification Signs would be 50 sf, Government Signs 
are much lower.  It is not uncommon for Government Signs to be located in residential areas less 
conducive for, and traditionally protected from, more intensive activity.  
 
One resident (Exhibits #12 and #15) has raised concerns of additional signs of this nature being 
located in the area in the future, others have supported it to address safety concerns (Exhibit #14), 
and others have called into question its usefulness (Exhibit #14). 

 

Conclusion 

 
The Commission should consider whether the proposed use in this area is consistent with the Special 
Permit Criteria and other applicable criteria cited within this report.   
 
More specifically, the Commission should determine if a sign (or signs) of this nature and intensity are 
suitable in this area and consistent with the purpose of the Regulations and more specifically the purpose 
of the MCPF District.  The Commission should evaluate the consistency of regulation of government 
signs and business identification signs. 
 
Possible findings can be derived from Section 9.2.E.1 – 9.2.E.9, especially 9.2.E.1, 9.2.E.2, 9.2.E.4, 
9.2.E.5, and 9.2.E.8. 
 
If the Commission determines the application is not in compliance with these criteria, it should consider 
the possible imposition of conditions to achieve the criteria. The Commission may also consider 
conditions under Section 9.2.D.4. 
 
A summary of documented guidance relative to special permit applications has been provided as 
Appendix D. 
 
A Draft Motion has been included for the Commission’s consideration and use (Appendix E).  
 
 



 6

Appendix A – Submitted Maps/Plan/ Exhibits 

 
Exhibit List for: 

File #194; Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; Special 
Permit, Section 6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and Section 6.4.E.10, 
enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of up to a 75 square foot 
identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire Station; Harold Freytag, applicant; 
North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner 

 

List as of January 12, 2016 

 
Correspondence: 
 

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #194; Apln #1567; 540 
Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; Special Permit, Section 
6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement 
of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of up to a 75 square foot 
identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire Station; Harold Freytag, 
applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner 

2. Special Permit application checklist 
3. List of abutters 
4. Abutters map 
5. Copy of the abutter notice sent to abutting property owners; dated 12/14/15 
6. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning 

Regulations 
7. Memo from Assistant Town Planner Emily Anyzeski to the ZBA regarding ZBA Application 

File #2015-7; dated 11/5/15 
8. Sketch of the sign approved by the ZBA; dated 11/9/15 
9. Copy of the approval letter for ZBA Application File #2015-7; dated 11/20/15 
10. Copy of the follow-up letter sent to Mr. Harold Freytag from Neil Pade, regarding necessary 

action prior to the installation of the sign; dated 11/24/15 
11. Certified mailing receipts 
12. Letter to Renee Narducci from Patricia Goodwin regarding the proposed sign; received by the 

Land Use Office on October 19, 2015 
13. Email from Karen McCoubrey to Renee Narducci regarding a preliminary drawing for the 

proposed sign at 540 Cherry Brook Road; dated October 9, 2015 
14. Draft minutes from the 11/9/15 ZBA regular meeting 
15. Letter to Renee Narducci from Patricia Goodwin regarding the proposed sign; received by the 

Land Use Office on 1/12/16 
 
 
 
 
 



 7

Appendix B – Aerial Photos 

 

 
Figure 1 - Aerial View, 540 Cherry Brook, Surrounding Area 



 8

 
Figure 2 – Aerial View, 540 Cherry Brook 

 



 9

 
Figure 3 - Birds Eye View 1, 540 Cherry Brook 

 

 
Figure 4 - Birds Eye View 2, 540 Cherry Brook 



 10

Appendix C – Street View Photographs 

 

 
Figure 5 - Street View 1, 540 Cherry Brook 

 

 
Figure 6 - Street View 2, 540 Cherry Brook 

 



 11

 
Figure 7 - Street View 3, 540 Cherry Brook 

 
Figure 8 - Street View 4, 540 Cherry Brook 

 



 12

 
Figure 9 - Street View 5, 540 Cherry Brook 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 



 13

Appendix D – Legal Considerations 

 

Legal Consideration Relative to Special Exception/Special Permit Evaluation 

  
The following are legal requirements regarding special permits and special exceptions derived from a 

reading of case law in Planning and Zoning in Connecticut, 4
th

 Edition, by Thomas P. Byrne, Esq. pp. 

75-92:, CGS, Section 8-2 & 8-3; as summarized by Zizka in What’s Legally Required – 2004, 7th edition, 

DEP Bulletin # 39, and Connecticut Federation of Planning and Zoning Agencies Workshop for 

Zoning Commissions October 2003 edition by Attorney Steven E. Byrne p. 15. 
 

• The Commission with ruling upon applications for special permits or special exceptions may 
grant the application as presented, deny it, or approve it subject to “conditions necessary to 
protect the public health, safety, convenience and property values”. (Zizka, p 72) 

• If a special permit is found to satisfy all of the standards set forth in the zoning regulations, it has 
no choice but to approve the application. However the board does have discretion over whether 
the standards have been met. (Byrne, S. p 15) 

• A special permit application can be denied if it fails to meet any of the general standards needed 
for approval. (Byrne, S. p 15) 

• The proposed use must satisfy the standards set forth in the zoning regulations themselves as 
well as the “conditions necessary to protect the public health, safety, convenience and property 
values” Gen. Stat. Sec. 8-2. Acting in this administrative capacity, the board’s function is to 
determine whether the applicant’s proposed use is expressly permitted under the regulations, and 
whether the standards set forth in the regulations are satisfied. (Byrne, T. p 77) 

• Section 8-2 of the General Statutes specifically authorizes the Zoning Commission to attach 
reasonable conditions to grant of a special permit. The conditions must be designed to protect the 
public health, safety and property values. (Byrne, T. p 80) 

• Section 8-3c of the General Statutes provides that whenever a commission grants or denies a 
special permit it shall state upon its record the reasons for its decision. (Byrnes, T. p.86) 

• Failure to state the reasons for its action does not automatically make the decision of the board 
void; however, failure to state reasons may interfere with the proper review of the Commission’s 
actions by the courts upon appeal. (Byrne, T. p.86) 

 

Based on the above, staff suggests that the Commission consider the following: 

 

1. The Commission should determine if the special permit has satisfied all of the standards set forth 
in the zoning regulations; 

2. The Commission upon determining the approval or denial of the special permits should state 
specifically “conditions necessary to protect the public health, safety, convenience and property 
values”; 

3. The Commission should articulate its reasons clearly; 
4. The Commission should collectively agree on reasons; and 
5. Reasons must be based on factors that are within its control. 



 14

Appendix E – Draft Motion 

 

MOTION: to APPROVE File #194; Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 
1850540; Zone: MCPF; Special Permit, Section 6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF 
district; and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation 
of up to a 75 square foot identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire Station; 
Harold Freytag, applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner 
 
This approval is granted in part on the application submitted on December 3, 2015, testimony received at 
a public hearing commenced on January 19, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 
 
List of Drawings:  To be completed 

 
Correspondence:  To be completed 

 
This approval with conditions and modifications is granted because the Commission finds that the 
application, as conditioned and modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would 
comply with the following: 
 
1. Section 9.2.E – Special Permit Criteria 
2. Section 6.4.A – MCPF Purpose 
3. Section 6.4.D.5.a – Signs in accordance with Section 7.3 
4. Section 7.3.C – Standards – Signs in Residence Districts 
 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 

1.  This approval is effective February 8
th

, 2016 (20 days from approval date) and upon the recording 

of the approval letter/certificate of action with the Town Clerk. 
 
2.  The sign shall be modified to incorporate the following changes prior to the issuance of the Sign 

Permit from the Zoning Enforcement Officer: 

a. TO BE SPECIFIED? 
b. TO BE SPECIFIED? 

 

3. Other limitation/condition to bring forth compliance? 

 

4. The Commission hereby waives the required application fees in accordance with Chapter 248-6 of 
the Canton Town Code. 

 
5. This approval is binding upon the applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees. This approval 

constitutes a contractual agreement between the Town of Canton and the applicant, heirs, assigns and 
grantees. 

 
6. In evaluating this application the Town of Canton has relied on information provided by the 

Applicant or his agent. 



















































































  
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

Regular Meeting 
Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 

Wednesday, December 16, 2015 at 7:30 p.m. 
Library Community Center, Room F 

40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER: The Regular Meeting of the Canton Planning and Zoning Commission on December 
16, 2015 was called to order at 7:32 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: Jonathan Thiesse, David Evens, Phil Pane and Lansford Perry  
ABSENT:  David Bondanza, John Huyghebaert, David Freeman, William Sarmuk and Keith August 
ALSO PRESENT: Assistant Town Planner Emily Anyzeski and Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION OF AGENDA: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Pane moved to modify the agenda to receive under NEW BUSINESS ITEM #1, File #194; 
Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; Special Permit, Section 
6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of 
Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of up to a 75 square foot identification sign to 
be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire Station; Harold Freytag, applicant; North Canton 
Volunteer Fire Association, owner. Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Pane 
 
1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; 

Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services 
businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the 
construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden 
Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner – Ms. Nash, the applicant’s representative, filed 
a consent for extension of statutory time (CGS, Chapter 8-7d), requesting that the continuation of this 
public hearing be postponed until the January 19, 2016 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Perry moved to continue the public hearing for File #379; Apln #1559 to the next 
Regular Meeting on January 19, 2016 at 7:30 p.m. in Room F of the Community Center. Mr. Evens 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.  
 

2. File #444; Apln #1566; 44 Indian Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 21; Parcel 3320044; Zone R3; 
Special Permit; Section 3.3.D.1.B., Detached accessory dwelling; request to formally establish 
the use of a detached accessory dwelling in an existing 26’x40’ structure; Louis Treglia, 
applicant/owner – Ms. Anyzeski provided the Commission with an overview of the application, and 
Mr. Treglia was present in order to answer any questions and provide insight on the property. He 
stated that the structure he is requesting to be used as an accessory dwelling has been on the 
property for nearly 17 years and in order to comply with current zoning regulations, he will be 



removing the stove that currently exists in the detached garage so there is no confusion of a third 
dwelling. Mr. Evans, the real estate agent for this property, provided insight on the garage, which is 
currently being used as a gym. Mr. Thiesse reviewed the zoning regulations to make ensure that 
nothing was overlooked and all conditions were met.  
 
Jay Kaplan, Co-President of the Canton Land Conservation Trust, had questions regarding plans for 
any future work on the property and why the application was submitted. 
 
Ann Smith of 70 Indian Hill Road, had questions regarding plans for any future work on the property 
and why the application was submitted. 
 
Christian Winkler of 47 Indian Hill Road, had questions regarding plans for any future work on the 
property and why the application was submitted. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to close the public hearing for File #444; Apln #1566. Mr. Thiesse 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; 

Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services 
businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the 
construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden 
Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner – No action was taken. 
 

2. File #444; Apln #1566; 44 Indian Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 21; Parcel 3320044; Zone R3; 
Special Permit; Section 3.3.D.1.B., Detached accessory dwelling; request to formally establish 
the use of a detached accessory dwelling in an existing 26’x40’ structure; Louis Treglia, 
applicant/owner – The Commission briefly discussed the application, as well as it’s relation in 
character/harmony to the Plan of Conservation and Development. 

 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to approve File #444; Apln #1566; 44 Indian Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 
21; Parcel 3320044; Zone R3; Special Permit; Section 3.3.D.1.B., Detached accessory dwelling; 
request to formally establish the use of a detached accessory dwelling in an existing 26’x40’ 
structure; Louis Treglia, applicant/owner. 

 
This approval is granted in part on the application submitted on November 30, 2015, testimony 
received at a public hearing commenced on December 16, 2015 and closed on that date; and upon 
the following documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the 
proceedings on the application: 

 
List of Drawings - Submitted December 9, 2015 

 
1. Sheet 1; Feasibility Site Plan; 44 Indian Hill Road; Prepared by David F. Whitney Consulting 

Engineers; Prepared for Louis Treglia; Dated August 19, 1988; Revised November 30, 2015 
 

Correspondence: 
 

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning – Development Application for File #444; Apln #1566; 44 Indian 
Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 21; Parcel 3320044; Zone R3; Special Permit; Section 3.3.D.1.B., 
Detached accessory dwelling; request to formally establish the use of a detached accessory 
dwelling in an existing 26’x40’ structure; Louis Treglia, applicant/owner 

2. Special Permit application checklist 
3. Assessors card for 44 Indian Hill Road 



4. Copy of payment; check #2641 
5. CRCOG GIS image of parcel 
6. Report from Tunxis Laboratories, LLC to Louis Treglia, regarding the laboratory examination of 

drinking water onsite at 44 Indian Hill Road; dated October 30, 2015 
7. Letter to Neil Pade from Dianne Harding at the FVHD, regarding the well and septic system 

onsite at 44 Indian Hill Road; dated November 25, 2015 
8. Copy of the abutter notice sent to neighboring properties on November 30, 2015 
9. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations 
10. Abutters list 
11. Town of Canton Legal Notice for the December 16, 2015 Public Hearing 
12. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant 
13. Certified mailing receipts 

 
This approval with conditions and modifications is granted because the Commission finds that the 
application, as conditioned and modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would 
comply with the following: 

 
1. Section 9.2.E – Special Permit Criteria 
2. Section 3.3.D.1.b – Major Home Based Business Criteria 
3. Section 8.2 – Performance Standards 
4. Table 7.2.C – Parking Requirements for Home Based Business 
5. Section 9.2.E – Special Permit Criteria 

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. The above-referenced plans, as modified by these conditions, shall be placed on Mylar, bear all 

conditions placed upon the proposed by all Town land use commissions (copy of approval 
letter/certification of action), and stamped “APPROVED” and signed by the Commission on a 
Town approved signature block. Said plans shall be filed by the Applicant with the Town Planner 
and Town Clerk within 12 months of the date of this approval or December 16, 2015; The 
Applicant/developer must provide one (1) fixed line Mylar, and two (2) paper copies of each 
approved plan for signature by the Chairman and/or Secretary.  Maps to be filed on the land 
records of the Town Clerk must meet the following standards: 
Must be produced by 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic polyester 
film, 3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen; the process used must be certified by a 
stamp in red indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of producer and process used.  Polyester 
films (“Mylar”) must be matte on at least one side.  Maps shall be 24” x 36”; Per Section 9.1.F.2 
this approval shall not be valid until such recording Mylars and Certificate of Action have been 
filed in the Town of Canton Land Records; 

2.   This approval is effective January 5
th

, 2016 (20 days from approval date) and upon the 
recording of the approval letter/certificate of action with the Town Clerk. 

3.   The submitted plan shall be modified prior to recording of the Mylars to incorporate the following 
changes: 

a. The location of the well and septic system for the accessory dwelling must be reflected 
on the submitted plan 

4.   All necessary approvals and permits must be obtained from the Farmington Valley Health District 
demonstrating full capability of supporting potable water and septic demands;  

5. This approval is binding upon the applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees. This 
approval constitutes a contractual agreement between the Town of Canton and the applicant, 
heirs, assigns and grantees. 

6. In evaluating this application the Town of Canton has relied on information provided by the 
Applicant or his agent. 

 
Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 



OLD BUSINESS: 
  
1. File #193; Apln #1561; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; 

Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; change in building material of the proposed 
greenhouse and associated site improvements (previously submitted as File #193; Apln 
#1477); Dana Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner – Ms. Anyzeski provided the 
Commission with an update regarding the light changes that occurred onsite, and distributed a 
handout depicting photographs of the re-configured lights. The Commission reviewed the modified 
site plan that was provided by Mr. Mathes at the meeting, and confirmed that all requirements have 
been met.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to approve File #193; Apln #1561; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s 
Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; change in building material 
of the proposed greenhouse and associated site improvements (previously submitted as File #193; 
Apln #1477); Dana Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner. Mr. Pane seconded the 
motion, which passed unanimously.  

 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
1. File #194; Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; 

Special Permit, Section 6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and 
Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of 
up to a 75 square foot identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire 
Station; Harold Freytag, applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Perry moved to receive the application as presented and schedule a Public Hearing for 
January 19, 2016. Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.  

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Review minutes of the November 18, 2015 Regular Meeting, December 2, 2015 Joint Meeting, 

and December 2, 2015 Special Meeting – The minutes were approved as presented. 
 

2. Freedom of Information (FOI) Class; February 3, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. – A class will be held for the 
benefit of town staff and commissioners, in which attendance by the Commission is encouraged and 
appreciated.  

 
3. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations – This agenda item was TABLED. 

a. Text Amendments 
i. Assisted Living Facilities 
ii. Variance Decision Considerations Based on the Verillo Decision  

 
4. Discussion of Design Regulations – A Special Meeting will need to be scheduled in order to 

discuss Sections 1-4 of the draft Form-Based Code Regulations. 
 

5. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite – No update was provided. 
 
6. Discussion of Design Review Ordinance – The Commission discussed the recent decision of a 

Town Meeting to rescind the Design Review Ordinance, and next steps in terms of amending the 
Zoning Regulations. 

 
7. Discussion of Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures – Ms. Anyzeski provided the 

Commission with a handout from the Town Attorney regarding Zoning Enforcement and Citations, 
which will be reviewed and discussed at the next regular meeting. 

 



8. Staff Reports: 
a. Town Planner’s Report – Ms. Anyzeski informed the Commission that a request has been 

submitted regarding the acceptance of Shallot Meadow as a public road; however, was not 
placed on the agenda since the request was received less than 10 days before the meeting. Mr. 
Thiesse provided an overview of the POCD Implementation Award that was received by the Town 
on Friday, December 11, 2015, and the 2015 Planning and Zoning Implementation Report will be 
provided and discussed at the next regular meeting. 
 

b. ZEO Report – A paper copy of the ZEO Report was distributed to the Commission prior to the 
meeting. 

 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Pane moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:35 p.m. Mr. Thiesse seconded the motion, which 
passed unanimously.   
 



241 Main Street / Hartford / Connecticut / 06106 
Phone (860) 522-2217 / Fax (860) 724-1274 

www.crcog.org 

 

Andover / Avon / Berlin / Bloomfield / Bolton / Canton / Columbia / Coventry / East Granby / East Hartford / East Windsor / Ellington / Enfield / Farmington  
Glastonbury / Granby / Hartford / Hebron / Manchester / Marlborough / Mansfield / New Britain / Newington / Plainville / Rocky Hill / Simsbury / Somers 

South Windsor / Southington / Stafford / Suffield / Tolland / Vernon / West Hartford / Wethersfield / Willington / Windsor / Windsor Locks 

 
A voluntary Council of Governments formed to initiate and implement regional programs of benefit to the towns and the region 

 
TO:   Municipal Planners and Planning Directors  
 
FROM:  Emily Hultquist, Principal Planner and Policy Analyst  
 
SUBJECT:  Appointments to CRCOG Regional Planning Commission  
 
DATE:  December 18, 2015  
 
 

We are updating our Regional Planning Commission membership lists. Appointments 
are made on an annual basis for terms beginning in January and lasting through 
December of the upcoming year.  
 
We request that your Planning Commission or Planning and Zoning Commission 
appoint a representative and alternate to serve on the RPC from the date of 
appointment through December 31, 2016. If your commission members are appointed 
by the Board of Selectmen or Town/City Council, the RPC appointments must also be 
approved by these bodies.  
 
Your participation on the Regional Planning Commission ensures that the concerns of 
your municipality are reflected in regional plans and policies developed by the 
commission. Two of the main responsibilities of the RPC, as established under State 
Statutes, are to keep up-to-date a Plan of Conservation and Development for the 
Capitol Region, and to comment on zoning and subdivision proposals occurring along 
town lines.  
 
Please make sure that the person appointed to the RPC is willing to attend our 
meetings on a regular basis, and if possible, please appoint an alternate who is willing 
to attend in the member’s absence. The 2016 RPC Meeting Schedule is attached. 
Meetings are held at the West Hartford Town Hall.  
 
RPC meetings are used to keep planning and zoning officials informed on CRCOG 
projects and programs related to regional and local planning. In addition, workshop 
sessions on current planning and zoning topics are periodically held, and members are 
given time to share information on municipal planning issues.  
 
We look forward to working with your town’s RPC representative in the coming year. If 
you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at 860-522-2217 ext. 219 or 
ehultquist@crcog.org.  
 
 

cc. Regional Planning Commission members and alternates. 



241 Main Street / Hartford / Connecticut / 06106 
Phone (860) 522-2217 / Fax (860) 724-1274 

www.crcog.org 

 

Andover / Avon / Berlin / Bloomfield / Bolton / Canton / Columbia / Coventry / East Granby / East Hartford / East Windsor / Ellington / Enfield / Farmington  
Glastonbury / Granby / Hartford / Hebron / Manchester / Marlborough / Mansfield / New Britain / Newington / Plainville / Rocky Hill / Simsbury / Somers 

South Windsor / Southington / Stafford / Suffield / Tolland / Vernon / West Hartford / Wethersfield / Willington / Windsor / Windsor Locks 

 
A voluntary Council of Governments formed to initiate and implement regional programs of benefit to the towns and the region 

REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 
2016 MEETING SCHEDULE 

 
Regular meetings of the Regional Planning Commission are held on the third Thursday 
of every other month. 

 
7:00 PM at the 

West Hartford Town Hall, 
50 South Main Street, 

West Hartford (unless noted to the contrary) 

 
 

January 21, 2016 
March 17, 2016 
May 19, 2016 

September 15, 2016 
November 17, 2016 

 



 

CRCOG REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 

2016 APPOINTMENT NOTIFICATION FORM 

 

 

 

TOWN    

 

2016 REPRESENTATIVE TO 

CRCOG REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

NAME:     

ADDRESS:   

   

TEL. NO. HOME:   

 WORK:   

E-MAIL     

Are you willing to receive meeting package via email? Yes  No  

 

2016 ALTERNATE TO 

CRCOG REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

NAME:     

ADDRESS:   

   

TEL. NO. HOME:   

 WORK:   

E-MAIL     

Are you willing to receive meeting package via email? Yes  No  

 

PLEASE RETURN TO: 

Emily Hultquist, Principal Planner and Policy Analyst 

Capitol Region Council of Governments 

241 Main Street 

Hartford, CT  06106 

Fax #:  860-724-1274 

   

   





POCD - PZC as Lead Agency

Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A CC2 Revise land use regulations to keep development features at a human scale.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

A CC3 Revise regulations to encourage multiple smaller buildings (or the appearance of multiple 
smaller buildings) on commercial sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

A CC4 Revise regulations to minimize vehicle corridors (physically and visually) in commercial areas:
   a.    Minimize street widths.
   b.   Locate buildings close to the street, with minimal parking between the street and the 
building.
   c.  Visually narrow the corridor with landscaping and using building facades at least 1.5 
stories high.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: Design regulations for commercial areas near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 1 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A CC5 Revise regulations to minimize the visual 'bulk' of parking areas:
   a.     Minimize parking requirements and promote shared parking and access.
   b.    Break up parking into multiple smaller areas where practical.
   c.   Visually break up larger parking areas with landscaped medians and islands.  (Remain 
mindful of snow removal.)
   d.    Visually screen large parking areas from adjacent roadways with appropriate means.  
(e.g. using site buildings and many types of landscaping are appropriate; discourage tall 
walls, fences, solid shrub 'walls', or obvious constructed berms.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

A CC12 Adopt regulations and policies that provide for/allow adequate, but minimal outdoor 
lighting and that incorporate best management practices to limit light spill-over beyond 
where it is needed and intended. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Incorporated into 2014 Zoning Reg rewrite.

S Yes PZC PW, PMBC, UTIL, CTDOT, BOE, 
PRC

A CC14 Revise land use regulations to promote a variety of archectural styles in commercial areas 
and multi-family buildings, in keeping with the character of surrounding areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, EDA, MST, CoC

A NR11 Develop fundamental updated storm water management (SWM) regulations for zoning and 
subdivision.  Focus on treatment and volume of discharge in addition to peak discharge.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Zoning Reg rewrite includes first Stormwater Management Regulations.  It is 
expected that revisions will be necessary to comply with forthcoming MS4 General Permit 
issuance by CTDEEP.

P Yes PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

23-Jun-2015 Page 2 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A NR12 Incorporate Low Impact Development (LID) techniques into SWM regulations for use where 
practical:
   a. Rain gardens, tree boxes, & depressed vegetated medians.
   b. Porous pavement.
   c. Gravel “wetlands” and wet ponds.
   d. Vegetated swales and buffers.
   e. Other best management practice (BMP) bioretention measures.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Reference LID standards called out in new Zoning Regs.  Some changes 
expected with new MS4 GP from CTDEEP.

P Yes PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

A NR15 Incorporate BMPs for steep slope management and design into regulations and standards.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Regulations to this effect strengthened in Zoning Reg rewrite.  Will be 
reviewed during Subdivision Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC IWWA, CC, Town

A NR16 Restrict development on natural slopes exceeding 25% (and/or restrict the heights/extents 
of constructed slopes of certain steepness – consider different thresholds for business 
districts vs. residential districts.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Slope restrictions included in Zoning Reg rewrite.  Will be further reviewed 
with Subdivision Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 3 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A A6 Revise Zoning Regulations to be local farm friendly in residential zones [not exclusively], 
without significantly compromising the integrity and character of the surrounding 
neighborhood, including:
   a. Minimize regulatory hurdles for the operation of farm produce stands;
   b. Allow for expanded product lines that include farm products not produced on the 
subject farm;
   c. Allow for expanded product lines that include crafts or agriculture-derived products that 
are locally produced with a local or regional consumer focus;
   d. Allow for on-site processing of locally grown product, limited to local or regional 
consumer focus;
   e. Allow for adequate, though limited and appropriate, signage for farm produce stands 
and other similar agriculture retail endeavors to inform the public of its location.
   f. Allow for farms to offer consumer supported agriculture (CSA) programs; and,
   g. Allow for on-site events that showcase local products (e.g. dinners, luncheons, wine 
tastings, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: Zoning Reg rewrite incorporates recommendations from 'Planning for 
Agriculture', and additional suggestions from 'Community Guidance to Maintain Working 
Farms and Forests'.

S Yes PZC CC, Town

A A8 Use the Capital Region Council of Governments prepared model regulations with respect to 
Agriculture, which are recognized state-wide as an excellent example, as a reference source.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: Appropriate elements incorporated into Zoning Reg rewrite.

S Yes PZC CC, Town

A ED7 Consider re-zoning the front part of Bristol’s Farm (abutting Route 44) from residential to 
commercial.  (Note: This is not to render an opinion on its future status as agricultural land; 
rather that, if it should get developed, commercial is preferable to residential.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: No progress in 2014.

NI No PZC EDA, BOS, PO

23-Jun-2015 Page 4 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED8 Limit big-box retail development to appropriate locations (East Gateway is the preferred 
location), and with appropriate design constraints in keeping with the desired community 
character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Adopted Zoning Regs place 'big box' development in Design Districts.

P Yes PZC Town

A ED19 Prioritize and designate appropriate areas for and develop regulations to allow mixed-use in 
Canton:
   a. Multiple mixed-use zones (e.g. neighborhood commercial/residential; general 
commercial/residential; professional office/residential; light industry/commercial; etc.) may 
be appropriate.  
   b. Appropriate design parameters/constraints would be key in establishing the various 
mixed use zones to maintain the appropriate character desired for a particular zone.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Being included in Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, CoC

A ED30 Reduce the permitting burden for existing businesses and developments for minimally 
significant changes (e.g. small expansions, conversions to similar use, façade changes, etc.).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Zoning Reg rewrite allows for staff approval of Zoning Permit uses, and also 
expands staff approval of minor Site Plan modifications.

P Yes PZC WPCA, EDA, Town

A ED31 Take steps to render existing known and acceptable non-conforming (for use) businesses 
into zoning use conformance, or otherwise to allow the expansion of a non-conforming use 
by Special Permit.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Many locations have been identified by staff.  16 Maple Avenue was rezoned 
to conformance.

P Yes PZC

23-Jun-2015 Page 5 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED36 Remove the practice of restricting hours of operation of community businesses and let 
market forces determine such practices.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs are less restrictive on matter and were result of direct 
inclusion of Chamber of Commerce in draft discussions.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, CoC, MST

A ED60 Identify a number of business uses to be permitted as of right in given zones/established 
business areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs created Zoning Permit uses (i.e. uses permitted by right with 
staff review.)

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

A ED61 Empower our professional staff to make more land use decisions, including approvals, 
administratively to improve the effectiveness of the processes and reduce the burden on the 
volunteer boards.  This would also allow the boards to better focus on policy and more 
overriding site development issues appropriate for such boards.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs allow Zoning Permit uses and expanded site plan 
modifications to be approved by staff instead of having to go to the Commission, and 
possible public hearing.  IWWA has not taken up the matter as of yet.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

A ED62 Have zoning designations follow property lines as much as possible; and remove areas of 
ambiguity.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Accomplished to extent practical with adoption of new Zoning Map is 
conjuction with new Regs.  PZC has expressed its desire and intent to follow this standard 
moving forward.

P Yes PZC Town

A ED70 Allow the use of open space to provide transitions between uses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI No PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 6 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED73 Work cooperatively with the Chamber and local sign shops to create signage regulations 
that allow businesses to be readily identifiable but minimizes negatives to aesthetics.  
(Review the coordinated signage theme regulations developed for The Shoppes at 
Farmington Valley as starting point for implementation elsewhere in town or town-wide.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs revised sign standards through a cooperative effort with the 
Chamber.  Additional work necessary to meet full intent of this measure.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

A R7 Revise the zoning regulations to allow two-unit structures (accessory apartments, two-family 
houses, duplex townhouses), with appropriate character preserving caveats, by right in all 
new residential developments
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Two-family dwellings now allowed by special permit in R-1 zones.  Regulations 
for accessory apartments have been improved.

P Yes PZC Town

A R8 Revise the zoning regulations to allow, by right, conversion of existing buildings to two-
family housing or accessory apartments,  with appropriate character preserving caveats, in 
village centers, existing (non-conforming) and proposed mixed use areas, and other 
appropriate locations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Two-family dwellings now allowed by special permit in R-1 zones.  Also under 
further consideration in the Design Review project.

P Yes PZC Town

A R12 Revise the zoning regulations to create mixed-use zones in village centers and most (or all) 
non-industrial commercial areas.  Such mixed-use zones should allow as of right mixed 
commercial and residential uses within individual buildings.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Regulation project for Collinsville and Canton 
Village areas.

P Yes PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 7 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A U11 Map and identify the extent of the service area for the Town’s wastewater treatment facility 
(i.e. create sewer avoidance areas) to inhibit the expansion of more intense development 
into areas intended for lower density housing.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Sewer shed and system information were added to GIS database.

P Yes PZC WPCA, Town

B CC19 Pursue regulations that allow for shared space environments (live-work units) which creates 
affordable opportunities for artists and other such tradespeople to live and apply their trade 
in the community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Some incoporation in Design Regulation project; there have been discussions 
on inclusion in the Collins Co. redevelopment project.

P Yes PZC

B NR20 Develop and enforce regulations on clear cutting in such core forest areas, limited to those 
activities carried out by a forester certified by the DEEP.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC CC, IWWA, Town

B OS9 Update Subdivision Regulations to maximize open space ‘value’ of lands or monetary 
resources to be associated with open space set-asides and achieve an appropriate balance 
of various open space components.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: To be incorporated in Subdivision Reg rewrite.

D Yes PZC CC, BOS, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 8 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B OS10 Update land use Regulations to:
   a. Promote conservation subdivision design.
   b. Build open space into neighborhood design to help preserve rural character.
   c. Expand allowed open space uses to include certain agricultural activities and use for 
subsurface wastewater disposal areas. 
   d. Take a holistic approach to open space decisions, balancing the:  i) Overall benefits and 
value of open space proposed to be created within the subdivision property;  ii) Value of 
leveraging partial credit for lands that [currently] have limited development potential, (e.g. 
wetlands, steep slopes, floodplains, etc.) into larger set-aside areas; and  iii) Open space 
value that may be achieved by “fee-in-lieu-of” funds.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs provide incentives for conservation subdivisions and 
associated neighborhood design.  To be strengthened with Subdivision Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC CC, BOS, Town

B ED13 Increase the available inventory of land zoned for light industry.  
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Proposal for industrial at Satan's Kingdom location withdrawn.

NI n/a PZC EDA, Town

B ED14 Consider allowing a limited number of light industrial uses on certain size lots as a special 
exception in residential zones with appropriate design constraints and limitations on future 
expansion.  (The Perry industrial facility along Barbourtown Road is an example of an 
industrial use existing in harmony within a residential neighborhood.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

B ED15 Consider allowing certain light industry as a mixed-use component with commercial in 
appropriate locations. The legacy of Canton is a community that “made things” in facilities in 
mixed-use areas such as Canton Center and Collinsville.  
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Under consideration with Design Regulation Project.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 9 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED20 Consider allowing the expansion of uses within/ around Canton Center that would be 
historically appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, CoC

B ED21 Consider allowing for increases in impervious and building coverage in areas identified as 
appropriate for mixed use and commercial development (with appropriate environmental 
and aesthetic safeguards).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Incorporated in 2014 Zoning Reg rewrite in limited form.  Being developed 
further in Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC IWWA, BOS

B ED33 Revise regulations for Village Centers to reduce parking requirements appropriate to the 
‘park-once’ nature of a downtown. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Parking regulations for Collinsville have been relaxed somewhat and also now 
acknowledge the understanding that Collinsville functions on shared parking.

P Yes PZC EDA, CoC, MST

B ED38 Promote redevelopment that incorporates shared access to improve access management 
along Route 44.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC EDA, CoC, PO

B ED40 Increase impervious coverage and building coverage maximums in areas appropriate for 
infill and redevelopment.  Careful consideration should be given to the allowable ratio 
between the two coverage’s to limit sprawl (i.e. individual buildings surrounded by vast 
parking lots) and promote more village styled growth (mixed use).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs have increased building and impervious coverages within 
specified standards.  This is being further explored in the Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC EDA, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 10 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED47 Consider the development of Special Design Districts (similar to West Hartford) that allow 
for increased density in exchange for specialized designs.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

B ED48 Transition to form-based zoning for Collinsville and other (proposed) mixed use zones.  Also 
consider form-based zoning for areas that may be targeted as priority locations for infill or 
redevelopment where development character is of higher importance than parcel use.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under development in Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

B ED50 Consider allowing mixed use with increased density and impervious coverage in the 
Industrial Park such as a Commerce District defined as a mix of business and industrial and 
high density residential. (Consider a required percentage match of uses and limit residential 
to upper floors.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Mixed use is being incorporated into the Design Regulation project.  That 
project does not cover any industrial zoned areas.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

B ED59 Adopt appropriate design guidelines for established business areas that reconcile context, 
economic growth, and diversification with clear standards that ensure the preservation and 
enhancement of the Town’s and surrounding area’s character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under development in Design Regulation project; clarity of standards to be 
reviewed.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

B ED63 Establish clear standards for the mutual buffering of business and residential properties to 
reduce negotiations of this from the process.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs provide for prescriptive standards to accomplish mutual 
buffering.

P Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 11 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED71 Evaluate and include creative ways to reduce parking requirements and encourage shared 
parking and access between adjacent parcels.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Parking regulations were improved in new Zoning Regs.  Additional measures 
under review in Design Regulation project.  Still additional work to be done.

P Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST, PO

B ED72 Revise the regulations to encourage/require business areas to be more pedestrian and bike 
friendly.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs include specific standards for bicycle and pedestrian 
accommodations.  Further improvement necessary to meet intent of this measure.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

B R9 Revise zoning regulations to create one or more zones that allow for apartment/ 
condominium development.  Consider limiting the number of units per building and other 
character-related caveats where appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Review project.

P Yes PZC Town

B R13 Allow multi-family residential structures as of right in mixed-use zones.  Maximum unit per 
building requirements, set as appropriate for the subject area, should be considered.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC Town

B R14 Consider the creation of mixed-use ‘blending’ zones, zones where the types and densities of 
commercial use and residential development allowed are less intense than a normal mixed-
use zone, to transition from commercial areas to lower density residential areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Discussions of such zones have occurred with respect to Maple Avenue and 
Lawton Road areas.  Minimal progress has been realized.

D No PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 12 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B R15 Facilitate neighborhood commercial node development through the permitting of small 
scale neighborhood friendly retail uses near key intersections in established (or proposed) 
residential areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Regulation project.

D Yes PZC Town

B R16 Revise applicable regulations to strongly encourage conservation subdivision development 
utilizing density based zoning principals for all new residential subdivisions north of State 
Route 44.  The open space created should be consistent with the open space and natural 
resource conservation priorities of the Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs include provisions for new conservation subdivision 
incorporating innovative considerations and density bonuses.  Subdivision Reg rewrite is 
expected to further expand and implement these prinicples.

P Yes PZC CC, Town

B R19 Revise applicable regulations to encourage connecting through streets and discourage cul-
de-sacs.  Consider requiring all cul-de-sacs to be private roads.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: To be discussed as part of the Subdivision Reg rewrite.

D n/a PZC Town

B R20 Consider expanding the current limitation of 2 lots on a single driveway, with appropriate 
safety and emergency response requirements.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: To be discussed as part of the Subdivision Reg rewrite.

D n/a PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 13 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B R21 Insure that design standards:
   a. incorporate appropriate provisions to reduce impacts, such as Low Impact Development 
(LID).
   b. use minimum appropriate street widths and other techniques to minimize the 
maintenance burden on the Town.
   c. promote an environmentally appropriate layout (with respect to such things as 
topography, wetlands and watercourses, soil types, steep slopes, and the conservation of 
other natural resource priorities of the town).
   d. incorporate the use of multi-property septic systems in common areas and open space, 
where appropriate, and keeping in mind that the Town's WPCA becomes responsible for 
ensuring the operation and maintenance of such systems.
   e. encourage resource efficient (a.k.a. 'green') design.  (Consider a density bonus.)
   f. encourage using architectural features, building materials, landscaping material and 
building scale that are representative of the character of the area, and yet provide a 
distinctive and varied architectural landscape.
   G. provide pedestrian connectivity between neighborhoods and destination points 
(including but not limited to parks, schools, transit stops and other neighborhood amenities 
wherever possible).
   H. increase opportunities for people to interact, both within the neighborhood and within 
existing or future adjacent neighborhoods.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: To be discussed as part of the Subdivision Reg rewrite.  Aspects also under 
consideration in Design Regulation project.

D n/a PZC Town

B T29 Encourage development techniques and designs that reduce roadway lengths, such as 
cluster residential development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs provide incentives for clustering and reduced road lengths.  
Matter anticipated to be addressed further in Subdivision Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC BOS, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 14 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B U3 Consider zoning incentives for significant use of renewable energy, such as solar or 
geothermal, in new developments. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs address renewable energy options; however, incentives are 
not provided for.

NI n/a PZC BOS, EC, Town

B U12 Revise regulations and take other steps as necessary to allow for appropriately designed 
community sub-surface wastewater disposal systems in open space areas for conservation 
subdivisions.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Anticipated to be considered in Subdivision Reg rewrite.

NI n/a PZC WPCA, BOS, Town, DEEP, 
CTDPH, FVHD

C NR14 Investigate ways to (with reasonable burden to the property owner) encourage/ ensure 
adequate maintenance of installed stormwater management facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: General provision included in Zoning Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

G CC1 Manage development densities and other patterns of development to be consistent with 
POCD principles.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; incorporated as appropriate in Form/Design 
Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC Town

G CC6 Use architectural designs and building facades that are appropriate for the character of the 
town and the neighborhood surrounding a development. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

n/a Yes PZC HDC, MST, PMBC, Town, CoC

23-Jun-2015 Page 15 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC16 Land use regulations and agency actions that promote a  variety of neighborhoods and 
housing to accommodate households of diverse sizes and economic status.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: corrected status back to 'n/a'.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST, WPCA, Town

G CC26 Conserve tree and shrub buffers along streets whenever possible.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: o relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC CC, PW

G CC27 Protect identified public right-of-way views of scenic value.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: o relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC CC, BOS, PW

G CC28 Design subdivisions such that new structures in scenic areas or which may affect scenic 
views are hidden to the extent practical.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC CC 

G CC29 Limit development-related clear-cuts and exposed home sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC CC

G CC31 Land use and agency actions that promote the preservation /re-purposing of significant 
historic buildings.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, CC, HDC

23-Jun-2015 Page 16 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC32 Land use and agency actions that promote agricultural vitality.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Zoning Reg rewrite incorporates recommendations from 'Planning for 
Agriculture', and additional suggestions from 'Community Guidance to Maintain Working 
Farms and Forests'.

n/a Yes PZC CC, BOS

G CC33 Land use and agency actions that promote the industrial heritage of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC EDA, BOS

G CC34 Land use and agency actions that promote the mixed-use heritage of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Village District regulations being written for Collinsville and Canton Village 
areas.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST, HDC

G CC35 Land use and agency actions that promote the small business and entrepreneurial heritage 
of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Investment in public improvements fronting Collins Co.  Ongoing discussions 
and support with interested parties.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST 

G CC37 Preserve and enhance village centers, maintaining a historical context. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Village District regulations being developed for Collinsville and Canton Center 
areas.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, EDA, Town, MST, HDC

G CC39 Encourage and facilitate infill and adaptive reuse in concert with surrounding context and 
heritage.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: Design regulations for commercial areas near completion.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, CoC

23-Jun-2015 Page 17 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G NR19 Ensure/ encourage that development plans in core forest areas limit unnecessary clear 
cutting and fragmentation, utilize BMPs and habitat management.  (Note: clearing for bona 
fide agricultural activities -including foresting - or natural habitat enhancement should not 
be discouraged.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: To be considered with Subdivision Reg rewrite.

n/a n/a PZC CC, Town

G ED10 Understand that condominiums/apartments/higher density residential uses adjacent to or 
near commercial land are to be treated as an appropriate transitional use between business 
areas and single family neighborhoods.  The existence of such higher density residential uses 
should not influence or be used to deny proposed commercial development on such 
commercial land.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Taken into consideration in regulations and as individual site development 
plans are processed.

n/a n/a PZC Town, MST, RES

G ED12 Expand opportunities for light industry.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Proposal for industrial development at Satan's Kingdom withdrawn.

n/a n/a PZC EDA, Town, CoC

G ED37 Promote infill and redevelopment of existing sites to expand the tax base within existing 
developed areas while maintaining context sensitivity of the surrounding built environment 
and local character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Relevant measures being included in the Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, IWWA, CoC, MST

G ED58 Provide clear rules for the land use processes that lead to  predictable outcomes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Progress made by creating updated checklists and adoption of procedural 
regulations in new Zoning Regs.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

23-Jun-2015 Page 18 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G ED69 Protect areas designated for commercial and industrial use from encroachment to their 
permitted and intended uses from nearby residential development and associated 
‘sensibility creep’.
   a. Provide appropriate transition uses where possible.
   b. Land use board decisions should respect such use designations and reflect the principles 
of this POCD with regards to these uses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No opportunities presented in FY 2014-2015.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, EDA, Town, Res

G R1 Encourage designs (where appropriate) for new buildings within established neighborhoods 
that are appropriate and similar to the character of the surrounding neighborhood.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: PZC just beginning work on Subdivision Reg rewrite.  This will be part of the 
discussion; although substantial change to the Regs would be required to accomplish this.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, Town

G R2 Encourage new development (where appropriate) to reflect and enhance each area's 
historic and cultural qualities through distinct building design that is responsive to the 
existing context of the area, and that are in keeping with the community character 
objectives of this Plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: PZC just beginning work on Subdivision Reg rewrite.  This will be part of the 
discussion; although substantial change to the Regs would be required to accomplish this; 
and legal ability to do so is uncertain.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, Town

G R5 Maintain Canton as a predominantly low density single family owner occupied community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Amended Zoning Map adopted in 2014 met this goal.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 19 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G R6 Promote “naturally occurring affordable housing” units (which may not be deed restricted, 
but which meet the market criteria for purchase or rent by low and moderate income 
families).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Design Regulation project is expected to contain IHZ regulations which, while 
not specifically 'naturally occurring', will promote developments that fit into the community 
in a manner fits the aesthetic qualities of naturally occurring units.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, Town

G R10 Maintain a strong, diverse housing balance, increasing the more moderately price housing 
options while maintaining the number of detached single family housing units at above 65% 
of the total housing stock.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No opportunities to further this goal presented.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, Town

G R17 Encourage residential development that promotes a sense of neighborhood and community, 
and that provides visual interest and distinctive character and identity to the Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: To be discussed as part of Subdivision Reg rewrite.

n/a n/a PZC CC, Town

G R18 Encourage infill and reuse residential development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Under consideration in Subdivision Regulation rewrite.

n/a n/a PZC Town

G F5 Address the need for affordable housing, ideally in the vicinity of, and considering the 
development of, complimentary supporting transportation options.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Being considered in the design regulation development as part of the IHZ.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, SS, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 20 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G T16 Encourage/promote/incentivize shared access drives and connected parking areas along 
Route 44 and other State Routes (in commercial areas).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs allow for shared parking across interconnected parcels.  
Matter also being considered in Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, EDA, Town, CTDOT, CoC

G T28 Minimize pavement widths on new or reconstructed roads.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Town made maintaining existing width of Eash Hill Road a priority over State 
funding for rehabilitation.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, PW, Town

O NR13 When significant modifications occur on existing sites, require that stormwater 
management controls be updated to reflect current standards and best management 
practices (BMPs) to practical extents.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Required by new Zoning Regs (indluding for significant residential 
development).  Some changes expected with new MS4 GP from CTDEEP.

n/a Yes PZC IWWA, Town

O ED11 Consider modest, minimally intrusive ways to turn potentially tax-negative land into 
potentially tax-positive land:
   a. Establish conforming mixed-use areas.
   b. Make existing non-conforming business conforming; and allowing reasonable, modest 
expansion of those businesses.
   c. Promote conversion of single family structures to business uses where zoning allows.
   d. Consider modest expansion of existing commercial and industrial areas (including using 
mixed-use to accomplish this) where appropriate.
   e. Appropriate design constraints are essential to the implementation of this strategy.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Mixed use being explored as part of Design Regulation Project. 16 Maple 
Avenue changed to conforming business zone.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 21 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O ED54 Revise land use regulations to be in step with the POCD.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: **

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

O ED64 Identify areas of inefficiency in the land use processes and guide recommendations for 
changes and goals that reduce the timeframes associated with the processes without 
diluting the effectiveness or value of the processes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Some areas identified and addressed in Zoning Reg rewrite.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST, 
RES

23-Jun-2015 Page 22 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



POCD - PZC as Partner Agency

Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A I1 Establish a POCD Implementation Committee
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Update

S Yes BOS PZC, Town

A CC13 Adopt policies to retain and encourage small, community- oriented businesses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Business visitation program being initiated, branding campaign initiated, blog 
initiated, funding and grant support to Canton Main Street org., reaching out to Chamber.

NI Yes EDA PZC, BOS, MST, Town, CoC

A OS12 Build and maintain an updated inventory of open space in Canton.  Such an inventory 
should include:
   a. Property identification (including easements protecting open space areas);
   b. Ownership classification (dedicated, managed, restrictive covenant);
   c. Property owner and rights holders (as appropriate);
   d. Functional classification: purposes, resources preserved, activities supported, benefits 
and amenities provided (or possible), etc.
   e. Identify degree and means of public availability/access (if any);
   f. Identify the party(ies) responsible for management, management level/ tasks, and 
significant or unusual management issues;
   g. Appropriate mapping (including easements);
   h. Identification of any encroachments, and actions for enforcement.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
23-Jun-2015: New initiatives identified and discussed between PIC and CC on 2/18/2015.

D Yes CC PZC, Town, CLCT, DEEP

A ED32 Provide an educational program for assisting small businesses considering expansion.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: evelopment of small focused educational programs on promoting local 
businessis in consideration.

D No EDA PZC

23-Jun-2015 Page 1 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED66 Provide a concierge service to applicants to assist in applicant's  understanding and 
navigation of the processes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Preparation of resource and guidance materials to be made available to 
businesses is underway.

P Yes EDA PZC, Town

A ED67 Provide a rudimentary user's guide to the land use process.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: A brief, non-comprhesive guide has been posted to the Town website by staff.  
Next step is for appropriate commissions to revise and update their parts of the document.

P Yes Town EDA, PZC, BOS, CoC, MST

A ED68 For all but the most basic applications, recommend a joint preliminary project review 
meeting between the applicant and staff to identify requirments and potential areas of 
concern.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Land Use staff are presently informally including this strategy in meetings with 
PD & DPW;  formal project review meetings have not been established.

D Yes Town PZC, IWWA

A R11 Identify and explore regulations for higher density areas suitable for mixed-income and 
mixed-use development with significant control (to be retained by the town) over the 
location, amount, type and design of such housing and associated development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Regulation project.

P Yes Town PZC, BOS

B NR3 Incorporate the completed NRI into the POCD and use it as an important reference in 
associated land use decisions.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PIC PZC, CC, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 2 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B NR6 Incorporate the CT DEEP Natural Diversity Database (NDDB) into the regulatory review 
process (inclusion of the NDDB reporting form in applications to the Town and incorporating 
guidance from DEEP into Town actions).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Land Use Office has made this a standard part of the application submittal 
review and pre-application processes.

S Yes Town PZC, CC

B OS7 Develop and keep updated a comprehensive Open Space Plan for the Town which:
   a. Includes a comprehensive, mapped Open Space Inventory.
   b. Identifies and discusses the open space attributes and benefits that are desirable to 
meet the Town’s open space objectives – prioritize as is practical.
   c. Identifies, discusses, and prioritizes general categories of land targeted for future open 
space creation; top priorities recommended by this Plan are:  i) Land along the Farmington 
River corridor;  ii) Land for recreational purposes consistent with the objectives of the 
Community Facilities chapter of this Plan;  iii) Land that creates linkages/ greenway 
connections between open space parcels (as may be held by various stewards).  Iv) 
Agricultural land consistent with the objectives of the Agriculture chapter of this Plan; and,  
v) Land along Cherry Brook and other major stream corridors, including parcels that are 
known to experience significant flood damage (as opportunity may arise).
   D. Establishes clear criteria and decision-making process for evaluating the suitability and 
value of parcels for potential open space acquisition.
   E. Evaluates and identifies opportunities for repurposing or expanding amenities at 
existing open space parcels for meeting evolving priorities and needs, while protecting the 
overall integrity and value of the existing open space.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: New initiatives identified and discussed between PIC and CC on 2/18/2015.

NI n/a CC PRC, PZC, Town, CLCT

B OS8 In general, update Town government regulations and programs to be consistent with and 
further the open space objectives of this POCD and those of a developed Open Space Plan; 
and to encourage beneficial acquisitions of open space and active open space stewardship.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: RFPs received and consultant selected to update the Subdivision Regulations;

D Yes BOS CC, PZC, PRC, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 3 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED6 Develop a master plan for Hart's Corner to maximize development potential in harmony 
with the character of the area and its natural resources.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Visual concept plan developed during summer 2014; not pursued further at 
this time.

D Yes EDA BOS, PZC, CoC

B ED16 Review the existing industrial park for development constraints, market feasibility, and 
marketing strategy.  Consider reducing setback requirements and expanded uses permitted 
as of right to increase the industrial park’s potential as a viable option for industry.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: EDA has reahed out to the woner to discuss plans for the park, but has not 
received a response.  EDA is developing a project strategy on development of data and 
research for park potential.

D Yes EDA PZC, BOS, Town, CoC

B ED45 Pursue efforts to increase pedestrian traffic on River Street.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Apr-2015: See previous notes.

D Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

B ED56 Have appropriate professional staff in house, or expertise on-call (paid for by the Town) 
capable of providing basic review of land use applications and responding to basic technical 
questions in house.
   a. It is an undue burden to applicants (especially to small business and individual residents) 
to require them to pay for these services to be provided to the Town for commonly 
necessary reviews and questions.  
   b. It also may compromise the representation of the public’s interests to allow applications 
to be approved without these technical reviews where appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Line item funding has been made available for some outside reviews.  
Qualified in-house staff has taken on responsibility of conducting technical application 
reviews.

P Yes BOS BOF, EDA, PZC, Town, CoC

23-Jun-2015 Page 4 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED57 Consolidate land use boards only after adopting standards and practices that improve the 
efficiency of internal and external processes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: ZC and PC consolodated to PZC; OSPAC and CC consolidated to CC; CC and 
IWWA, and CHDC and CCHDC are presently being evaluated for consolidation.

P Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC

B F9 Relocate the garage to a site away from the Farmington River.  
   a. Acquire land and construct a facility adequate to house the Public Works Department.
   b. Repurpose the existing site for public recreation and river access, which are identified 
open space, natural resource and community character goals in this plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Referendum to aquire new property for garage was unsuccessful.  
Redevelopment of existing site is being explored.  Potential for recreational opportunities is 
subject to garage-related matters.

H No BOS PMBC, BOF, PW, PZC, RES

B F16 Cooperative effort [between Fire, EMS, and Town agencies and staff] to develop new 
regulatory standards including:
   a. access standards for single family homes (ability to accommodate modern fire 
apparatus);
   b. access standards for commercial and large developments (preference for more than one 
point of access);
   c. the provision of fire protection and safety measures in all areas where new development 
is proposed;
   d. standards/specifications for the design/location of emergency water supplies (i.e. 
cisterns, fire ponds, dry hydrants, etc.);
   e. encourage looped road systems (and looped hydrant systems as opposed to rear lots, 
dead ends and cul-de-sacs;
   f. require the creation of associations or common interest ownership communities to 
maintain fire protection and safety measures.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: A portion of the Subdivision Reg rewrite will consder parts of this measure.  
Asst. Planner has been assigned to work with emergency responders on developing new 
standards.

D n/a Town PZC, PD, Fire, EMS

23-Jun-2015 Page 5 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B F23 Recapture the riverfront presently occupied by the DPW Garage to increase public access 
and recreation.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Garage referendum failed; WPCA expansion plans conflict with this measure.

H No BOS BOF, PRC, PMBC, PZC, IWWA, 
WPCA, Town, FRWC, RES

B T8 Take steps to help ensure that new Town roads are constructed to adequate and designated 
design standards.
   a. When the Town accepts a road that is not constructed to standards, it becomes a 
maintenance burden for the Town much more rapidly; and may require expensive 
rehabilitation measures much sooner.
   b. This is not a straight-forward issue for a relatively small town with limited personnel 
resources.  Effective monitoring of road construction requires significant and timely 
observation of the construction and, in many cases, appropriate testing of materials used.  
The level of observation may vary depending upon the developer/contractor involved.  
   c. Town staff, the BOS, the BOF, and legal counsel should all be involved in developing the 
protocols.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: Consultant selected for Subdivision Regulation rewrite.

D Yes Town BOS, BOF, PW, PZC

B T10 Create and adopt a Complete Streets Policy and Plan for the Town.
   a. Include striping, signage, design standards, and traffic calming, in addition to more 
standard features, as part of the development and implementation of this plan.
   b. Include improved access to and facilities at Town-owned   facilities used by the public  as 
part of the development/ implementation of this plan.
   c. Require new development to appropriately accommodate non-automotive 
transportation options.  (This would include installing bike racks at commercial and mixed-
use developments, proper consideration of bicycle and pedestrian routes into and within 
developments, connectivity with adjacent properties, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: No comment provided.

D Yes BOS Town, PW, PMBC, PZC, PD

23-Jun-2015 Page 6 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B T15 Make context sensitive traffic solutions a priority in village areas.  Work with the DOT to get 
their buy-in with respect to state routes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: LTA has approached CT DOT regarding installation of traffic calming/ 
pedestrian safety measures on Dowd Ave.

P Yes Town BOS, BOF, PZC, PW, CTDOT, 
CRCOG, CoC

B T20 Develop an access management plan for Route 44.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a Town BOS, PZC, PD, CTDOT, CRCOG, 
CoC, PO

B U10 BOS and EDA to review the connection policies and fees and system extension/assessment 
policies of the WPCA for consistency with the goals and objectives of this Plan; and to 
promote coordination between the goals and objectives of this POCD and the goals and 
objectives of the WPCA.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: Changes made to connection fees for multi-family housing in 2014.

P Yes BOS WPCA, EDA, PZC, PIC, CoC, RES

C CC30 Pursue additional scenic road designations as indicated on the Character Resources map on 
page 13 of the 'Strategic Component'.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Issue was discussed with CC at 2/18/2015 meeting.  CC felt this was more of a 
BOS issue.  This is a 'C' priority, and should be re-adressed at the appropriate time.

NI No CC BOS, PZC

C NR5 Once vernal pools are verified and their ecologic functions are categorized, consider new 
regulations (or review procedures) as necessary to protect vernal pools found to be of 
significant ecological value.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a CC IWWA, PZC, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 7 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

C ED25 Promote the development of small business incubators and economic gardening locations; 
and promote the creation/ use of economic catalysts or incentives to support this measure, 
(e.g. grants, loans, tax related, regulation related, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Measure incorporated into 2014 EDA Strategic Plan; Training attended specific 
to development of small business incubators/ shared office space.

D Yes EDA BOS, PZC, CoC, MST

C ED46 Connect Main Street, Bridge Street, Market Street and River Street with a series of 
historically appropriate handicap accessible walkways, with streetscapes, decorative signage 
and lighting, way finding signage, etc.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: First phase of Collinsville Streetscape project under construction.  OPM MISF 
grant being researched for possible submission for additional funding.

P Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

C F4 Improve accessibility of public buildings to meet ADA requirements (notably, the 
Community/Senior Center and the Town Hall.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: ADA accessible listening devices included in FY 2015-2016 budget.  ADA 
checklist for polling stations was provided and reviewed by the Town Clerk.  Basic ADA 
requirements reviewed and distributed as appropriate.

P Yes BOS BOF, PMBC, PW, SS, Town, PZC

C F24 Extend the Farmington River Trail to complete Phase IV and the trails connection to 
Simsbury (creating a unique 28 mile recreational loop) in support of the priorities of this 
plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a Town BOS, BOF, PZC, PRC, CRCOG

G I7 Coordinate with programs and efforts of CRCOG and State agencies, as appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: Staff routinely coordinates with CRCOG and state agencies on numerous 
projects and initiatives.

n/a Yes Town PIC, PZC, BOS

23-Jun-2015 Page 8 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC8 Keep the preservation of rural character as a priority in the acquisition of open space.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No open space acquisition sought in 2014 - 2015.

n/a n/a CC PZC, IWWA, Town, BOS, BOF, 
CLCT

G CC9 Preserve farmland soils and working farms.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: New initiatives identified and discussed between PIC and CC on 2/18/2015.

n/a Yes CC PZC, IWWA, Town, BOS, BOF, 
CLCT

G CC11 Encourage more pedestrian- and bicycle-friendly pathways and traffic flow.  (Thereby 
making Canton safer and more accommodating for the enjoyment of the rural character.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Aspects under consideration for Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes Town PD, PRC, PZC, BOS, BOF

G CC15 Encourage a variety of commercial enterprises.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Comment not provided.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, CoC, MST

G CC17 Foster trade communities for artists and other such 'cottage' industries:
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: No opportunities in FY 2014-2015.

n/a n/a BOS EDA, PZC, CoC, MST, RES

G CC18 Create and support opportunities to sustain and promote space for music and the arts -- 
especially in Collinsville.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Opportunities leveraged in Collinsville Streetscape project.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, CoC, MST, PRC, 
Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 9 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC21 Promote and encourage uses that further tourism in Canton:
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Comment not provided.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, MST, CoC

G CC22 Encourage additional tourist accommodations; (i.e. bed and breakfast establishments, a 
properly sized boutique hotel, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Comment not provided.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, MST, CoC

G CC23 Encourage context appropriate attractions and businesses that leverage the Town’s assets.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Comment not provided.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, MST, CoC

G CC24 Encourage pedestrian and bicycle connections from the Farmington River Trail to, and 
through, relevant commerce areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: Draft procdures/policies for new connections is being developed.

n/a Yes Town PD, PZC, BOS, BOF, PW, CoC, 
MST

G CC25 Encourage and effect the identification of scenic views, viewsheds, and features whenever 
practical. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a CC PZC, BOS, FRWC

G CC38 Encourage and facilitate Collins Company complex redevelopment.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Investment in public enhancement in front of Collins Co. with Collinsville 
Streetscape project.  Ongoing discussions and support with interested stakeholders.

n/a Yes BOS EDA, PZC, MST, HDC

23-Jun-2015 Page 10 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G NR10 Support a proper balance and appropriate accommodation of the various natural resource 
values of the watercourses when such values may be in conflict.  (i.e. – the provision of fish 
ladders through hydro-electric power generation.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: RFPs issued for redevelopment of hydropower have included these 
environmental considerations as requirements.

n/a Yes BOS IWWA, PZC, CC, PMBC, Town

G NR17 Establish a priority of conserving the natural resource functions of existing core forest areas 
500 acres or greater in size.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

n/a n/a CC PZC, BOS, CLCT, Town

G NR18 Make core forest areas a priority for open space acquisition as the primary means of 
protecting these areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

n/a n/a CC BOS, PZC, CLCT, Town

G OS4 Support the Land Trust’s open space endeavors as opportunity arises and as is consistent 
with the Town’s interests.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: CLCT submitted grant application in 2014 with support provided by Town staff.

n/a Yes BOS CC, PZC, Town, CLCT

G OS5 Understand that government discussing the acquisition of privately owned land must be 
done carefully and with a great deal of sensitivity and respect for the property owner.  Once 
a property is identified as a potential candidate for open space acquisition, the engagement 
of and communication with the property owner as early on as possible is a priority.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: No comment provided

n/a Yes BOS CC, PZC, Town, CLCT

23-Jun-2015 Page 11 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G A4 Keep farmland preservation a priority in open space acquisition matters and specifically 
within the Open Space Plan for the Town; priorities with respect to acquisition of farmland 
as open space should include:
   a. The value and viability of the property for commercial farming;
   b. The history of farming on the property;
   c. Aesthetic values of the farming operation;
   d. Other scenic values of the property;
   e. The proximity of the property to other farming/open space.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: New initiatives identified and discussed between PIC and CC on 2/18/2015.

n/a n/a CC BOS, PZC, Town, CLCT

G A9 Allow, encourage, and support events that market or celebrate local agriculture, including:
   a. Farmers markets;
   b. Agricultural related fairs or festivals;
   c. Agricultural related educational events;
   d. Encourage the purchase of local agricultural products by Town institutions.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: Farmers market supported on Town property.

n/a Yes BOS CC, PZC, BOE, PRC, Town

G ED1 Pursue a long term goal to increase the tax base proportion from 15% commercial/ 85% 
residential to 20% commercial/ 80% residential.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: EDA has initiated several actions in FY 2014-2015 to further this goal.

n/a n/a EDA BOS, BOF, PZC, Town

G ED3 Restore the business potential at the Harts Corner area (intersection of State Routes 44, 
202, and 179).  This is the town’s largest transit node which previously had a number of 
commercial properties.  The realignment of this intersection greatly reduced its economic 
potential, yet development should be promoted.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Redeveopment potential and options explored in Summer 2014.  Additional 
effort needed.

n/a Yes BOS PZC, Town, CTDOT, CRCOG

23-Jun-2015 Page 12 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G ED18 Consider the redevelopment of the Collins Company site, in a manner which has a good 
balance of commercial to residential use, to be an incontrovertible priority to the Town 
economically. Take appropriate actions necessary to support its redevelopment. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Current development team have discussed possible tweaks to their approach 
to residential portion of future development with PZC.

n/a n/a BOS EDA, PZC, IWWA, CoC, MST

G ED39 Encourage redevelopment to provide a mix of uses, shared parking and walkable 
connections between different uses and sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Relevant measures being included in the Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, CoC, MST, PO

G ED41 Leverage and enhance the Town's existing economic assets.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: No comment provided.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

G ED42 Leverage the the economic value of the Farmington River Trail.
   a. Support and pursue its completion into Simsbury.
   b. Support and pursue future connections to trails, or bicycle/ pedestrian friendly routes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Short segment completed along south end of Lawton Road.  Another Lawton 
Road segment has been designed.  Assistant Planner working on standards for expanding 
trail connections from business and residential areas.

n/a Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC, CRCOG

G ED43 Leverage the economic value of the Farmington River.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Main Street program has been moving forward efforts focused around the 
River.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 13 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G ED44 Re-enforce the Village Centers as the historic centers of community life and economic 
activity.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: The streetscape and Desgin Regulation projects are working to further this 
goal.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

G ED49 In all business districts and mixed use zones – increase/ expand sidewalks, including both 
sides of the street wherever feasible and prudent.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: No comment provided.

n/a Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

G ED65 Improve the consistency and claity of direction given to land use applicants.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New checklists adopted for Zoning applications.  Process has started of staff 
and commissions reviewing all land use forms for update.  New Asst. Planner being trained 
to perform pre-application reviews to identify potential issues.

n/a Yes Town EDA, PZC, BOS, CoC, MST

G R3 Support Town maintenance and capital improvement programs that maintain the public 
spaces and facilities in residential neighborhoods that befit or enhance the neighborhood.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: On-going with road improvement and streetscape projects.

n/a n/a BOS PMBC, PW, PZC, Town

G R4 Avoid, to the extent possible, any alteration or destruction of points of reference (such as 
prominent natural features or historic buildings), focal points, and place names important to 
an area's identity when alterations or development occur in or near residential areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Town acquired Grange property; and continues to consider opportunities as 
they become available.

n/a Yes CC PZC, Town, HDC

23-Jun-2015 Page 14 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G T17 Look for opportunities for traffic calming measures along Route 44:
   a) Medians.
   b) Streetscape improvements.
   c) Moving buildings closer to the roadway as new development or redevelopment occurs.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: (c) addressed to extent applicable in new Zoning Regulations and also will be a 
part of design regulation project.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PZC, PD, CTDOT, 
CRCOG, CoC, PO

G T23 Look for opportunities to increase parking and streetscaping in Collinsville.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Measures included in Collinsville Streetscape project, which is scheduled for 
construction in Spring, 2015.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PZC, EDA, MST, CoC

G T26 Consider the total life-cycle costs and weigh those costs against the overall benefit to the 
community when evaluating proposed initiatives.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: BOS and PW consistently include such considerations in their infrastructure 
decisions.

n/a Yes BOS PZC, PW, Town

G U5 Encourage new technologies and applications which may further the reliability and 
sustainability of utility supply and services, and their implementation within Canton where 
feasible and practical, taking into consideration potential negative impacts.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

n/a n/a Town BOS, EC, PZC, UTIL

G U13 Monitor developments in technology, regulations, and regulatory trends, for alternative 
means of safe wastewater disposal for selective use for potential future developments.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: Investments made in technology to improve quality of effluent from treatment 
facility and reduce orders.

n/a Yes Town WPCA, PZC

23-Jun-2015 Page 15 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O I3 Follow appropriate processes for Plan updates; and keep CRCOG and CTOPM apprised of 
updates.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Status changed to n/a; no updates have been proposed.

n/a n/a Town PIC, PZC, BOS

O I5 Regularly monitor implementation progress, successes, failures, conditions, and public 
attitudes; and perform additional research and evaluations, and update the relevant Plan 
components as warranted.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: corrected status back to 'n/a' as appropriate for 'O' and 'G' items.

n/a Yes PIC PZC, ALL

O NR2 Continue efforts to protect and preserve priority natural resources.  (See Chapter 3.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Expectations and potential on-going, as needed measures identified and 
discussed between PIC and CC on 2/18/2015; no new initiatives were undertaken.

n/a n/a CC IWWA, Town, PZC

O NR8 Continue to monitor and enforce the Farmington River Protection Overlay District.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: 2 years of photo documentation from the centerline of the river have been 
completed.  Goal to identify strategy for continuing this effort.

n/a Yes CC PZC, Town, FRWC

O ED9 Anticipate and promote development on the opportunity locations identified in the POCD in 
accordance with the principles of this Plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Possibility of infrastructure improvements on Route 44 to extend utlities to 
opportunity areas is being pursued.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, WPCA, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 16 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O ED52 Encourage businesses, tenants, and property owners to maintain their own properties and 
facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Efforts underway to clean up blighted properties in town.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, CoC, MST, Res

O ED55 Periodically remind and refresh the training of board members regarding:   
   a. Their roles in the processes.   
   b. The role of the POCD in their board’s mission and deliberations.
   c. Their roles as representatives of the Town– both in their decisions and their interactions 
with applicants and the public.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Discussed, but no clear action in place yet.

n/a n/a Town BOS, PZC, PIC

O ED74 Establish a culture of sound, consistent, and unified decision making: 
   a. Focus board and other land use decisions to be non-arbitrary and made in the best 
interests of the Town as a whole (within the parameters and purview that the subject board 
operates under).
   b. Hold regular joint meetings, and other communication opportunities, of the various 
land use boards to educate each other on their respective roles and procedures and to 
discuss and find consensus on priorities, policy issues, and the POCD; with the added goal of 
improving communication and interaction between the boards.
   c. Consider limits on the number of consecutive years any one individual can serve as 
Chairperson.
   d. Consider term limits in general.
   e. Consider [non-voting] cross membership on boards where consistency between the 
boards is important.  
   f. Encourage board members periodically move to a different board to increase cross-
board knowledge and understanding, and to keep board perspectives fresh and renewed. 
   g. Set standards for board member attendance and participation in training opportunities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Discussed, but no clear strategy in place yet.

n/a n/a BOS PZC, CC, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 17 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O T11 Improve bicycle and pedestrian connectivity.
   a. Between existing cul-de-sac developments – in some cases dedicated rights-of-way or 
open space connections exist between developments where bike/ped pathways could be 
developed to connect the developments and create extended neighborhoods.  In such 
cases, the Town should pursue installing such pathways.
   b. Identified or dedicated bicycle and pedestrian routes should be created between the 
Farmington River Trail and 1) the Canton Village area, and 2) the Mills Pond recreation area 
via a more direct route than currently exists.
   c. The Town should pursue developing a dedicated bicycle route between the Farmington 
River Trail and The Shoppes at Farmington Valley site.
   d. The Town should pursue developing a dedicated pedestrian route  between The 
Shoppes and the Simsbury/Avon commercial areas along Route 44.
   e. The Town should pursue developing bicycle connections/ dedicated routes to Simsbury, 
Avon, New Hartford, Barkhamsted, and Granby.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: No comment provided.

n/a Yes BOS Town, PW, PZC, PD, CTDOT

O U9 Work with the Canton WPCA, authorities serving adjacent towns, land owners, and 
developers to extend public sanitary sewer service to all parcels in commercial zones, 
opportunity locations and potential mixed use sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: Purchasing easement to extend sewers on the north side of Route 44 west of 
309 Albany Turnpike.

n/a Yes BOS WPCA, BOF, PZC, PIC, CoC, PO

23-Jun-2015 Page 18 of 18POCD - PZC as Partner Agency











Archived: Tuesday, January 19, 2016 2:25:46 PM
From: Pade, Neil
Sent: Fri, 18 Dec 2015 08:53:52
To: Narducci, Renee
Cc: Anyzeski, Emily; Skinner, Robert
Subject: FW: Variances and their Relationship to Subsequent Land Use Applications
Importance: Normal
Attachments:
Scanned from a Xerox Multifunction Printer.pdf;

Renee:

Attached is the legal opinion from the Town Attorney requested from the Joint ZBA-PZC meeting.

Below are two follow up questions. One from the PZC Chairman and one from myself.

Please distribute these to the ZBA and PZC members for their review.

Thanks,

- Neil

Follow up Question #1

“Follow up from PZC Chairman (in the context of when granting a variance…):
“can ZBA set a limit or other condition as to the use or ownership of the property”?

- Neil”

Response #1

“Neil,

The Connecticut Supreme Court determined that even though the general statutes don’t expressly grant that
power, a ZBA can impose conditions on a variance as long as the condition is reasonably related to the
requested variance. For example, a ZBA that granted a variance pertaining to a nonconforming use of
interior use building space was found to have impermissibly attached a condition requiring sign removal that
was not at all related the variance request. So a reasonable condition pertaining to use could be imposed as
long as it is related to the requested variance. On the other hand, a condition that pertains to ownership is
impermissible. Hardship must arise from the land and run with the land, not the owner. (There can be a very
narrow exception to that rule involving the American’s with Disabilities Act, but I don’t think I need to delve
into that one).

mailto:NPade@TownofCantonCT.org
mailto:RNarducci@TownofCantonCT.org
mailto:EAnyzeski@TownofCantonCT.org
mailto:RSkinner@TownofCantonCT.org



















Regards,

Ken

RESPONSES TO:

Kenneth R. Slater, Jr., Esq.
Halloran & Sage LLP
225 Asylum Street
Hartford, CT 06103-4303
Telephone: 860-297-4662
Fax: 860-548-0006

slater@halloransage.com

www.halloransage.com

Your Solutions Start Here...
Confidentiality: The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity named above and is
privileged and confidential. Any dissemination, distribution, or copy of this communication other than to the individual or entity named
above is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by telephone.”

Follow up Question #2

“A granted variance is a vested right with the property, but correct me if I’m wrong, the granting of a variance
does not actually permit anything, any activity, or any construction to occur. It merely vary’ s the regulations
so that one or more standards from Zoning (that are varied) are different for that property than others in the
same zone.

For example, if someone is seeking a 15’ reduction in a side yard to construct a deck, if such a reduction is
granted, the deck is not now permitted. The installation of the deck still requires a zoning permit from staff.
The owner must submit for a zoning permit and staff would review it for compliance with all standards of
zoning (but applying the varied setback).

If the installation of an application requires a special permit, its owner must seek a special permit from the
Commission. And the Commission in reviewing that special permit must evaluate all of the zoning criteria
including the special permit criteria.

What gets tricky is in evaluating the variance, the ZBA must have found a unique hardship specific to the lot
that warranted the reduction in the side yard setback. This is a review of a hardship and is a review of
physical characteristics of the lot that may warrant the reduction of the setback. However the Special Permit



Review by the Commission is reviewing the actual action itself against its criteria – i.e. is a deck located this
close to the adjacent property compatible with the neighborhood? Does it create a nuisance, etc….

Is it fair to say the granting of a variance does not pre-empt or remove staff or the commission’s ability to
review and apply the remaining criteria?

If the ZBA grants a variance for setback to erect a deck taking into consideration the unique characteristics of
the lot, and then the Commission finds the deck as proposed would not comply with the special permit
criteria when taking into consideration the use and neighborhood, is there a concern? Is the owner entitled
to that deck in that location regardless because of the variance?

Thanks so much,

- Neil”

Response #2

“Neil,

As usual, you give me the tough ones. You are correct that the variance doesn’t exempt the owner from
seeking whatever approvals are necessary for the use or construction such as a zoning permit, site plan or
special permit.

To the extent that the building and use are subject to the discretionary standards of special permit review,
the PZC wouldn’t be bound by the finding of the ZBA that the owner would suffer legal hardship if, for
example, a setback isn’t varied. Essentially, the PZC would be looking at the application in the same way as
any other except having setback A per the variance rather than setback B. Looking at it from the other side
of the coin, since only the PZC is entitled to evaluate whether the use or building itself should be permitted
on the particular property by special permit, the ZBA can’t usurp that authority by granting a variance of a
particular bulk requirement in the regulations such as coverage or setback.

Since a variance is tantamount to a finding that a person is deprived of use of its land without a variance, I
can see some kind of creative argument that if the PZC based its decision on the proximity to the boundary, it
would deprive the owner of the property right arising from the variance. I don’t think that argument would
prevail, but I wouldn’t bet my law license on it. Presumably the neighbor didn’t oppose the variance so
maybe that lack of opposition or outright support would make it more likely that the PZC would not find that
the proximity is an issue. And, of course, the special permit could be denied based on issues wholly
irrelevant to the varied regulation.

The bottom line is that staff and the PZC should treat an application on a property where a variance was
granted no differently than any other except to the extent that certain regulations applicable to the property
such as setback distance, lot coverage, etc. have been modified by the variance.

Regards,

Ken



RESPONSES TO:

Kenneth R. Slater, Jr., Esq.
Halloran & Sage LLP
225 Asylum Street
Hartford, CT 06103-4303
Telephone: 860-297-4662
Fax: 860-548-0006

slater@halloransage.com

www.halloransage.com

Your Solutions Start Here...
Confidentiality: The information contained in this e-mail message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity named above and is
privileged and confidential. Any dissemination, distribution, or copy of this communication other than to the individual or entity named
above is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by telephone”



 

150 Trumbull Street, 6th Floor  ▪  Hartford, CT 06103  ▪  T (860) 249-2200  ▪  F (860) 249-2400  ▪  www.blcompanies.com 

 

An Employee-Owned Company 

 

 
 

 

 

December 28, 2015 

 

 

Mr. Neil S. Pade, AICP 

Director, Planning & Community Development 

Town Of Canton 

4 Market Street 

Collinsville, Connecticut 06022 

 

RE:  Request for Road Acceptance, Shallot Meadow Subdivision Road 

 

Dear Mr. Pade, 

 

We have had the opportunity to visit the site on a number of occasions during construction and 

all physical improvements associated with the road acceptance have been completed and are 

acceptable however the complete terms and conditions of the development agreement have not 

been completed. 

 

This letter recommends that the Board of Selectmen not accept the Shallot Meadow Subdivision 

Road until the complete terms and conditions of the development agreement have been 

completed. 

 

Regards, 

 

BL COMPANIES 

 

 

 

Raymond B. Gradwell, PE, PMP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





 1 

 
 

 
  PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION  

 Canton, Connecticut INC.  1806 

       4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 
 

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
FROM:  Neil S. Pade, AICP 
  Director, Planning & Community Development 
 
CC:  Gervais Jouvin, Applicant 
  David Whitney PE, Applicant Representative 
  George Wallace PE, Canton Project Administrator 
  Ray Gradwell PE, Commission’s Engineer 
  File #524 
 
SUBJECT:  Staff Report - Request for Road Acceptance, Livingston Road Extension 
 
DATE:  December 21, 2015 
 

 

Mr. David Whitney, applicant representative and design engineer of the subdivision approval to 

construct Shallot Meadow Road (inclusive of ____ building lots) has requested the Town of 

Canton accept the new segment of road as a Town Road. 

 

The start of the road acceptance process begins with a request from the developer to the 

Commission for consideration of acceptance of road and other public improvements constructed 

as part of an approved subdivision in accordance with Section 620 of the Subdivision 

Regulations (SR).  A request was submitted to the Land Use Office on December 11, 2015 and 

officially received by the Planning and Zoning Commission on December 16, 2015. This item 

was not placed on the agenda in accordance with the established 10 day policy and to allow 

sufficient time for the road acceptance request to be properly evaluated. 

 

Prior to action by the Commission their Engineer, in accordance with SR 322.2 shall make a final 

inspection and report to the Commission on the readiness for acceptance of the roadway and 

other public improvements.   

 

Upon recommendation of their Engineer that the requirements for road acceptance have been 

successfully accomplished by the developer, the Commission shall make a report per SR 621 to 

the Board of Selectman in accordance with Connecticut General Statutes 8-24 recommending 

acceptance of the roadway and other public improvements. 

 

Prior to a recommendation for road acceptance to the Board of Selectmen or Town Meeting, the 

following check list of items needs to be addressed by the subdivision developer: 



 2 

 

1. ____ All physical improvements associated with the road acceptance have been 

completed and are acceptable.  The Town Engineer makes a written recommendation to 

the Planning Commission; Planning Commission has approval authority and makes 

recommendation to the Board of Selectmen.  Required by the Planning Commission 

Subdivision Regulations Section (SR) 322.3 and 620.1 and Connecticut General Statutes 

Section (CGS) 8-24. 

 

Status – Included in the ______________ letter from Raymond Gradwell, BL Companies 

 

Per the December 2, 2015 site walk the following information has not yet been provided: 

 Copies of material submittals and receipts as well as any testing like compaction 

that was performed on the wearing course as it was placed has been requested by 

the Commission’s Engineer. 

 Documents for drainage easements 

 Deed for roadway 

 Deed for open space 

 Asbuilts 

 Sworn affidavits from the project Design Engineer and project Surveyor 

 Final report from the Design Engineer 

 

Comments from the Director of Public Works? 

 

2. _ ___ As-built drawings of the completed public improvements shall be completed and 

provided to the Town Engineer for approval.  Required per SR 250.3 and 620.3. 

 

Status – “Reproducible as-built drawings” not yet submitted. 

 

3. _____ Deeds for open space has been approved by the Town's attorney and are ready to 

be conveyed to the designated recipient.  Town Planner to confirm per SR 316.8 and 

620.4. 

 

Status - ???Open Space deeds have been received from the Town Attorney and they are 

ready to be recorded??? 

 

Installation of the Open Space markers is pending. Staff is awaiting notice from the 

applicant that the markers have been installed. 

 

4. _ ___ Terms and conditions of the development agreement have been completed as may 

be applicable.  Town Engineer and Town Planner to confirm.  Required per SR 612.3. 

 

Status – Included in the ___________ letter from Raymond Gradwell, BL Companies 

 



 3 

Item #9 of the Development Agreement requires a certificate of substantial completion 

from the Design Engineer prior to road acceptance.   

 

Item #12 of the Development Agreement requires payment of any taxes, liens and 

encumbrances against the property prior to transfer.  Currently under review by Tax 

Collector. Presently Tax Collector records show a balance owed on individual lots 

payable by February 2016. 

 

Item #19 of the Development Agreement requires the provision of Title Insurance 

acceptable to the Town Attorney. 

 

Item #20 requires the submission and approval of a Phase I Site Assessment prior to 

transfer. 

 

Item #22 of the Development Agreement requires replenishment of the $10,000 escrow 

being held. Escrow is presently held at _________. 

 

5. _ ___ A sworn affidavit is provided from the project land surveyor that all monuments 

(street line and property corner) have been set.  Required per SR 321 and 620.2. 

 

Status – submitted in the form of an _____________ letter from the project land surveyor 

 

6. _ ____ Traffic control and street name signs have been installed in accordance with the 

plans approved by the Local Traffic Authority acting through the Chief of Police.  

Required per SR 311.2 and 324.6. 

 

Status – Per the December 14, 2015 e-mail communication from the Local Traffic 

Authority, roadway signage, site lines are acceptable.  Painting of a white stop bar at the 

intersection of Bahre Corner Road is not completed.  Staff is awaiting notification of this 

being completed. 

 

7. _ ___ Fire protection installed per approved subdivision plans and installation approved 

by the local Fire Marshal or Fire Chief.  Required per SR 311.2. 

 

 Status – Sign off by Fire Chief received on _________ 

 

8. ____ Under drains and slope drainage must be installed to control seepage water.  As 

required by the approved subdivision plans or as may be directed by the Town Engineer 

per SR 325.9. 

 

 Status –? 

 

9. _____ Drainage easements have been approved by the Town's attorney and are ready to 

be conveyed to the Town per SR 620.5. 

 



 4 

  Status –? 

 

10. _ ___ Deeds for the roadway have been approved by the Town's attorney and are ready to 

be conveyed to the Town per 620.4. 

 

 Status – See the Town Attorney e-mail confirmation dated _______________  

 

11. _ ___ A sworn affidavit is provided from the project civil engineer that all public 

improvements have been completed and installed in accordance with the approved 

subdivision plans.  Required per SR 620.3. 

 

Status – submitted in the form of an ___________ letter from _____________________ 

 

12. _ N/A__ When public water supply is provided by the Connecticut Water Company, a 

sign off that all improvements are complete and acceptable for flow both domestic and 

fire.  Required per SR 311.2, 312.3 and 313.3. 

 

 Status – N/A 

 

13. _ N/A___ When public sanitary sewer is provided by the Canton Water Pollution Control 

Authority, a sign off that all improvements are complete and acceptable for flow.  

Required per SR 312.1. 

 

Status – N/A 

 

14. _ _N/A___ When a community water supply has been provided, a sign off from the 

Farmington Valley Health District, Canton Water Pollution Control Authority, 

Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection, or the Connecticut Department of 

Public Health (as may apply) that all improvements are complete and acceptable for 

domestic flow.  Required per SR 124, 311.2, 312.3, and 313.3 and CGS 8-25b. 

 

 Status – N/A 

 

15. __N/A__ When a community on-site sewage disposal system has been provided, a sign 

off from the Farmington Valley Health District, Canton Water Pollution Control 

Authority, Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection, or the Connecticut 

Department of Public Health as may apply.  Required per SR 124, 311.2, 312.3, and 

313.3. 

 

 Status – N/A 

 

16. _ ____ Final inspection, report, and recommendation to the Planning Commission of 

status of the public improvements and utilities associated with the subdivision by the 

Town Engineer.  Required per SR 322.3. 

 



 5 

Status – Included in the ________________ letter from Raymond Gradwell, BL 

Companies 

 

17. _ ___ Report and recommendation to the Board of Selectmen by the Town Engineer that 

the public improvements are complete and ready for acceptance. 

 

Status – Included in the ________________ letter from Raymond Gradwell, BL 

Companies 

 

18. _ N/A_ When proposed public improvements across a State highway; sign off by 

Connecticut Department of Transportation District 4 Permits. 

 

 Status – N/A 

 

19. _____ Confirm with Finance Department that there are no outstanding issues concerning 

escrow accounts. 

 

Status – The Commission will need to recommend a residual security to be held for 1 

year.  Currently $113,197 is being held in the form of a Letter of Credit as a reduced 

performance bond.  The original performance bond value submitted by Family Home 

Builders LLC was valued at $390,580.  Per SR 621.1 and 614.1 20% of that amount 

needs to be retained ($78,116).  Such residual security value should be set and the Town 

should release the current LOC being held when such residual security has been 

submitted to the Town in an acceptable form. 

 

Outstanding balance on escrow required to be at $10,000. Presently ________ in escrow 

being held. 

 

20. _____ Other. 

 

Status – the required application fee of $100 to the Town and $60 to the State has not 

been submitted. 

 

 



 6 

Draft Motion for Consideration: 

 

Moved that for Subdivision File #524, Shallot Meadow Road, the Commission, based upon the 

recommendation of their Engineer that the requirements for road acceptance have been 

successfully accomplished by _________________, the Commission herby submits a favorable a 

report, in accordance with Section 621 of the subdivision regulation (SR) and Connecticut 

General Statutes 8-24, to the Board of Selectman (BOS) recommending acceptance of the 

roadway and other associated public improvements.  A residual security required by SR 621.1 

and 614.1 in the amount of $________ shall be retained for one year from the date of acceptance 

of the public improvements by the BOS in a form acceptable to the Town. 

This recommendation is contingent upon the ___________________________________to the 

satisfaction of the ___________________________________. 

 

 



Archived: Wednesday, January 13, 2016 9:45:18 AM
From: cantondonotreply3@townofcantonct.org
Sent: Tue, 12 Jan 2016 14:48:40
To: Narducci, Renee
Subject: A Message from First Selectman Leslee Hill
Importance: Normal

Dear Canton Residents,
Please consider this a personal invitation to attend the 2016 Annual Town
Meeting. It will be held on Wednesday, January 20, 2016 at 7:00 pm at the Town
Hall Auditorium. Two topics will be presented that evening. The first will be the
marketing analysis and branding plan developed by the Town of Canton's
Economic Development Agency for the Town of Canton. The second topic will be
the process and possible benefits of creating a Tax Increment Financing Master
Plan pursuant to Connecticut Public Act 15-57 for portions of Collinsville,
including the Collins Axe Factory, in order to fund certain public improvements
and promote economic development. Both of these topics will be subjects of
extensive discussion in Canton in the coming year, and I encourage you to come
and learn more about them. That evening, the town will also honor, with the
dedication of the 2015 Annual Report, the late Emil J. Huyghebaert, who served
the Canton community for over 50 years.

I hope your 2016 is off to a healthy and happy start, and I look forward to seeing
you on January 20th.

Warm regards,
Leslee B. Hill
First Selectman

Click here to unsubscribe | Powered by QNotify a product of QScend Technologies, Inc.

mailto:cantondonotreply3@townofcantonct.org


   

TOWN OF CANTON  
LAND USE OFFICE   

4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 
 

ZEO Report, January 19, 2016 
Permits Granted since December 18, 2015 

 

# Street Permit Dated Issued  

310  Albany Turnpike SIGN 12/21/15 Temporary Sign Permit for Mandell JCC Valley Sports 

166 Albany Turnpike SIGN 1/5/16 Sign Permit for Thai Art 

88 Simonds Avenue MSPM 1/15/16 MSPM for removal of trees at Millennium Field 

 
SFH – Single Family Home 
ZONPERM – Zoning Permit 
HOME OCC – Home Occupation 
IWWA AA – Inland Wetlands 
Authorized Agent 

SIGN – Sign 
LIQUOR – Liquor 
MSPM – Minor Site Plan 
Modification 
SP – Special Permit 

CERTCOM – Zoning Certificate of 
Compliance 

 
  Inspections since December 18, 2015 

 

# Street First Visit Last Visit # Visits Reason 

52 High Valley 12/23/2015 12/23/2015 1 Inspection of potential wetlands before tree removal 

110 Albany Turnpike 1/5/2016 1/5/2016 1 Inspection of existing retaining wall near Ben n Jerrys 

72 Lawton Road 11/24/2015 1/14/2016 4 Complaint regarding alleged junkyard 

26 Andrew Drive 12/3/2015 1/19/2016 4 Complaint regarding unregistered vehicle 

20 Canton Springs Road 12/3/2015 1/14/2016 4 Improper storage of vehicles 

175  Albany Turnpike 4/14/2015 1/18/2016 9 Verifying Eviction  

** Note: Verified on 1/18/2016, 175 Albany Turnpike is evicted and entirely vacant. 
 

  Enforcement Action/Attention since December 18, 2015 
 

# Street Form Date Issued Reason 

150 Torrington Avenue OOV 1/5/2016 Regarding parking lot lights w/ no approval 

7 South Street OOV 1/6/2016 Regarding parking lot lights w/ no approval, spilling light beyond lot  

20 Canton Springs Rd OOV 1/15/2016 Regarding many cars parked in grass next to approved parking lot 

26  Andrew Drive NOV 12/31/2015 NOV regarding unregistered car on front lawn 

7 South Street Complaint 11/5/2015 Complaint regarding lights at Collinsville Congregational Church 

 Shallot Meadow Complaint 1/11/2016 Complaint regarding drainage at Shallot Meadow 

188 Bahre Corner Rd Complaint 1/15/2016 Complaint regarding filling of wetlands on property 

  
SFH – Single Family Home  
NOV – Notice of Violation  

OOV – Observation of Violation
  

C&D – Cease and Desist 
COMPL – Complaint 

 
ZEO LOG 

All activity since December 17, 2015 
 

Phone Calls – 26 
Emails – 31 

Counter Assistance – 19 
Temporary Signage Removed Since September 1, 2015 

52 



 

    

 TOWN OF CANTON 

 LAND USE OFFICE  
 4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 

1 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

 

To: Planning and Zoning Commission  

 

CC: Neil S. Pade AICP, Town Planner 

 

From: Emily Anyzeski, Assistant Town Planner, ZEO 

 

Re: 550 Cherry Brook Road 

  

Date: December 30, 2015 

 

 

Background 

 

A complaint was received in the Land Use Office regarding apparent “junk-yard” qualities of the property 

listed above. A review of the file indicates this has been an issue in previous years. On February 12, 2012, 

Mr. Edward Kasica of 550 Cherry Brook Road was issued a Cease and Correct order for Section 6.1.2 

(Outdoor storage of more than one unregistered motor vehicle is prohibited), 6.1.4 (No more than six 

motor vehicles may be stored on a continuing basis in the AR-3 district), and 65.3.2 [All trailers 

(including boats) must be stored in a neat and orderly manner, in the rear of the house and generally not 

be visible from the street while observing all side and rear setback requirements (20 feet)].  

 

At the regular meeting of the Zoning Commission on July 17, 2013, a motion to lift the Cease and Correct 

order at 550 Cherry Brook Road was passed.  

 

Staff Comments 

 

The complaint received in the Land Use Office described the property “no different than three years ago” 

when the Cease and Correct order was issued. Observations upon inspection support the complainant’s 

position. Aerial photographs represent accurate conditions of the site, however it was nearly impossible to 

photograph the conditions in person due to the tall fence surrounding (and therefore, screening) the 

property. This condition is what has sparked an internal question.  

 

This property appears to violate Section 3.3.B.3.a, which details the maximum outside parking to consist 

of 6 automobiles and 1 commercial vehicle.  It may also violate Section 3.3.B.3.a.iii, “No unregistered 

motor vehicle may be stored on a lot for more than 30 days in a location where it is visible from the street 

or from adjacent lots”. However one could argue it does not violate Section 3.3.B.3.a.iii as the vehicles 

are screened with a fence.  (The vehicles/ equipment in question are apparently only visible from a 

neighboring second story window.  The vehicles are not visible from the street.) 

 



2 

Staff further questions whether or not this would fall under the permitted use of Section 3.3.B.3.e, 

“Storage of non-farm vehicles, construction equipment, or other equipment provided that such equipment 

is … screened from the street or from surrounding property.”?  

 

 
 

This image from Google Maps shows vehicles and boats on the lawn, however, it is believed that there 

are more on the property now than when this image was taken. It is important to note the neighbor 

(complainant) just north of this property.  

 

 



 

    

 TOWN OF CANTON 

 LAND USE OFFICE  
 4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 

1 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

 

To: Planning and Zoning Commission  

 

CC: Neil S. Pade AICP, Town Planner 

 

From: Emily Anyzeski, Assistant Town Planner, ZEO 

 

Re: 280 Albany Turnpike 

  

Date: December 17, 2015 

 

 

 

Staff Comments 

 

Question for interpretation: 

 

We have received an application to convert what is currently a shed to a 2 car garage at 280 

Albany Turnpike. This property is a residence in the Business district. Would the conversion 

from shed to detached garage be an expansion of an existing nonconformity? 

 

8.3. C.2 “A nonconforming structure may only be enlarged provided such enlargement complies 

with applicable area and dimension requirements/ standards of the district” 

 

8.3. C.5,” Enlargement of a nonconforming structure shall not be presumed to mean that 

enlargement of a nonconforming use is allowed” 

 

Additionally, I question if 8.3.C.3 would also be an issue, “Vertical expansions of 

nonconforming structures are prohibited within the nonconforming area” because the height of 

the proposed garage is presumably substantially greater than the current height of the shed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


	Working Notes
	File #379; Apln #1559
	File #194; Apln #1567
	File 193; Apln #1571
	12-16-15 Draft Minutes
	CRCOG Representative Recommendation
	POCD Implementation Review
	Citation Process/SZEPs
	File #524; Shallot Meadow Road Acceptance Request
	January 20, 2016 Town Meeting
	ZEO Report

